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Monday, June 20, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:45 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  My name is Marika Hare, and sitting with me on this Panel is Board member Paula Conboy.

The Board is sitting today to hear submissions on certain matters to do with the Red Lake pipeline project.  On June 7th, 2011, the Board had posed several questions in its Procedural Order No. 2 regarding the Crown's consultation efforts in relation to the Red Lake project.

By way of background, Union Gas filed three applications with the Ontario Energy Board on February 8th, 2011 relating to proposed natural gas facilities in the Red Lake area.

The applications were filed together and consist of requests for leave to construct a natural gas pipeline, a municipal franchise agreement for the Municipality of Red Lake and a certificate of public convenience and necessity for Red Lake.

The Board has assigned to the leave to construct application file EB-2011-0040, the franchise application file number EB-2011-0041, and the certificate application file number EB-2011-0042.

The Board has well-established rules of practice and procedure in order to ensure that the public interest is upheld and that all participants, including applicants, receive a just, expeditious and efficient determination on the merits of every proceeding.

The Board recognizes that considering the Grand Council and Lac Seul's concerns at this late date is a significant technical and financial imposition on Union and Goldcorp.

It is clear that both parties received notice of this application and missed not only the deadline for intervention, but the entire evidentiary portion of the proceeding.

The Board understands it is important that Union receives any approval from the Board quickly or the project cannot be completed until next year.

However, the Board found that the Grand Council raised important questions on the Crown's duty to consult.

Unlike electricity leave to construct applications, the Board's jurisdiction with respect to gas pipeline leave to construct applications is not limited by section 96(2) of the act.

Given the importance of constitutional issues, the Board was not prepared to dismiss the Grand Council's concerns on account its late participation request.

As indicated in its procedural orders, the Board intends, however, to restrict its consideration at this time to submissions on the appropriate scope of its inquiry into any duty to consult issues in this proceeding.

And I would like to stress that the scope of today is limited to the three preliminary questions set out in Procedural Order No. 2.

The Board also scheduled written submissions and today's oral hearing for parties to address the questions.  The questions are, number 1:
"The duty to consult arises when the Crown has knowledge, real or constructive, of the potential existence of the Aboriginal right or title and contemplates conduct that might adversely affect it.  In the current case, what is the conduct that the Crown has contemplated that has the potential to adversely impact an Aboriginal right or title?  What is the Crown's responsibility with respect to this project, which is being undertaken by a private proponent?"


Two:
"To the extent that there are duty to consult issues associated with the project, what is the scope of the Board's power to review them?  In particular, should the Board's review be limited to potential impacts arising directly from the proposed natural gas pipeline itself (over which it has approval authority), or indirect impacts such as potential expansions to the mine or the town that may be enabled by the pipeline (over which it has no approval authority)?"


And, three:
"Can the Crown impliedly delegate the duty to consult to a private proponent?"


The Board has received the written submissions of Goldcorp, Union Gas, Board Staff, the Grand Council, and Lac Seul First Nation.

The Board received a letter from Wabauskang First Nation late Friday afternoon indicating its intention to participate in today's hearing.

The Board notes that Wabauskang First Nation, like the Grand Council and Lac Seul First Nation, was also served notice by Union Gas early in this proceeding.

Union Gas has not been afforded the time to respond to WFN's request, nor has any party to this proceeding received an opportunity to review any written submissions on the three preliminary questions posed by the Board.

We would like to first address WFN's participation as a preliminary matter by allowing Union to make submissions on Wabauskang's eligibility to participate in today's hearing.

Wabauskang will, of course, have an opportunity to reply to any submissions made by Union.

May I have appearances, first?
Appearances:


MR. ISAAC:  Thomas Isaac.

MS. HARE:  I should say to those new to our process, you will have to press the button for the microphone to be activated.  Thank you.

MR. ISAAC:  Thank you.  Thomas Isaac, McCarthy Tétrault, here for Union Gas Limited.  Beside me is Mark Murray with Union Gas Limited, and beside Mr. Murray is Kristyn Annis of McCarthy Tétrault.  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Madam Chair, Ian Blue for Goldcorp, and my co-counsel, I would like to introduce my former partner and good friend, Mr. Bill Burden.  Sitting to my right is Mr. Andrew Moshoian, the general counsel of Goldcorp.

MR. JANES:  Robert Janes, counsel for the Grand Council Treaty Number 3, and with me us Erin Thomson, articling student.

MR. MAJOR:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  William Major.  I am representing Lac Seul First Nation.  I have with me Yana Sobiski.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

DR. McIVOR:  I will try to get my button to work here.  Good morning, Chair.  It's Dr. Bruce McIvor for Wabauskang First Nation.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Conboy.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined today by Ms. Zora Crnojacki, Colin Schuch, and Neil McKay of Board Staff.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

So, Mr. Isaac, do you have submissions with respect to Wabauskang First Nation participation this morning?
PRELIMINARY MATTERS
Submissions by Mr. Isaac:

MR. ISAAC:  Yes.  Thank you.

One of the matters that we wanted to address was the issue of time for today, given that we have one day set aside for this.

Given that we have had Wabauskang come in at the very last minute, we don't object to them making submissions, but we would underscore the importance of setting aside the appropriate amount of time.  Talking to my colleagues from Goldcorp, we believe that each of us needs approximately one hour, in terms of submissions today.

We would just make the submission that the Board set aside the appropriate amount of time for the parties, given the number of parties presenting now, should the Board decide that Wabauskang is able to make some presentations to the Board.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Before we turn to Dr. McIvor, does anybody else have any submissions on the matter of Wabauskang's participation?  Okay, Dr. McIvor.
Submissions by Dr. McIvor:

DR. McIVOR:  Thank you.  Just a few points.  I think it is clear on the record that my client does have a direct interest in the outcome of this hearing.

As far as timeliness goes, my client contacted me in my office in Vancouver on Friday asking me about this hearing.  When I explained to him what the legal consequences would be and what the possible effects would be on his community's constitutional rights, he instructed me to attend and seek to make oral submissions.  I immediately wrote and notified the Board and parties.

As far as prejudice, I don't think there is any here.  We are not seeking to delay.  We are not seeking to file a written argument.  And I have discussed timing with my friends, Mr. Major and Mr. Janes, and we are able to work my client's oral submissions into the allotted time for the First Nation intervenors.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. HARE:  The Board would like to hear from WFN.

We appreciate your efforts to try to stay within the timelines allocated to the First Nations.  So to the extent possible, we will try to stick within those timelines.  Thank you.

MR. McIVOR:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  So I think there has been an order agreed to, starting with Mr. Janes.

MR. BURDEN:  I apologize, Mr. Janes.  I just wanted to jump in.

In terms of the issue of the prejudice -- and I'm not trying to argue that point on prejudice today and spend time on it, but it is obvious my friend -- despite what my friend says, it is obvious that we don't know what submissions are going to be made because we have no written submission from the parties.

So in terms of allocation of time, I would just be interested in knowing whether we have sufficient time in reply, either through Mr. Isaac or our side; I just want to be sure that we have sufficient time to deal with that.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  We will come that in mind, and we will see how the day goes.

Mr. Janes?

MR. JANES:  We have agreed to work within two hours between the three of us.  I will take approximately 50 minutes, Mr. Major 40 minutes, and Dr. McIvor a half hour.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Submissions by Mr. Janes:


MR. JANES:  And I am not going to repeat my written submissions.  I plan to focus on certain issues that arise out of the entirety of the submissions.

Essentially, I am going to break my submissions into four pieces.  One, introductory comments, really to put this in a framework, and then I propose to answer or address each of your three questions in turn.

So with that, I will turn to my introductory comments.  These are -- okay.  So I will start off with this point.

First, and this is particularly important because you are being asked, as Board Counsel pointed out, to address issues around what your statutory mandate is and how this integrates with the duty to consult case law that is out there.

I think it is important to understand where the Supreme Court of Canada has placed administrative tribunals and administrative decision makers generally in terms of these constitutional issues.

I would just like you to turn to the book of authorities we provided, the second volume, tab 16, which is the Beckman case.  This is sometimes referred to as Little Salmon's, and it is the Supreme Court of Canada case -- it is a Supreme Court of Canada consultation case out of the Yukon.

I would just ask you turn to page 42, and it is going to be the end of paragraph 45 that I will be referring to.

And the point here is that as a fundamental rule in Canada, administrative decision makers have to stay within the bounds of the constitution.  The Legislature wants you to do that, the constitution wants you to do that, and part of that is you have to stay within the bounds of matters such as consultation.

So what the Court here said -- this is the majority decision, Justice Binnie:

"However, as Lamer C.J. observed in R. v. Van der Peet, [1996] 2 S.C.R. 507, 'aboriginal rights exist within the general legal system of Canada' (para. 49).  Administrative decision makers regularly have to confine their decisions within constitutional limits..."

Then they cite various cases.  I'll just highlight the first one here is a case called Slaight versus Davidson.

At the end of the citations, it says:
"In this case, the constitutional limits include the honour of the Crown and its supporting doctrine of the duty to consult."

So that is actually the constitutional limit on your powers.

I would like you to turn to volume 1 of the book of authorities, tab 15.

MR. BLUE:  Sorry, what is that reference again?

MR. JANES:  Tab 15 of our first volume of the book of authorities.  It is the Slaight case that you saw listed there and the Beckman case.  This has dealt with the Charter.

I would just like to turn to tab –- page, excuse me, 46.  Page 46, this is Justice Lamer.  He's speaking -- it is his own decision, but I will show you how actually everybody agrees with it, or the majority agrees with it.

I just want to go to halfway down the first paragraph at the top of page 46:

"Although this Court must not add anything to legislation or delete anything from it in order to make it consistent with the Charter, there is no doubt in my mind that it should also not interpret legislation that is open to more than one interpretation so as to make it inconsistent with the Charter and hence of no force or effect.  Legislation conferring an imprecise discretion..."

So you have a broad discretion in making your decisions.

"...must therefore be interpreted as not allowing the Charter rights to be infringed.  Accordingly, an adjudicator exercising delegated powers does not have the power to make an order that would result in an infringement of the Charter, and he exceeds his jurisdiction if he does so."

And at the core, our submission, the Grand Council's submission, is the reason you have to inquire into the duty to consult as a whole is to ensure that you don't make a decision that is out of bounds of the constitution, by allowing a decision that effectively would endorse an activity or a decision that would breach the duty to consult.

And the last thing I would like you to turn to on this point is our second volume, tab 32.  I can't pronounce the name of this case.  It is a recent BC Court of Appeal case.

I generally just call it the Cache Creek landfill case, because it dealt with consultation around a dump.

MR. BLUE:  What tab?

MR. JANES:  Sorry, tab 32.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

MR. JANES:  I would just like you to turn to paragraph 68.  I would just like to highlight halfway down through this, and just to highlight this is a case where an issue similar to this arose.  The applicant in this case was a tribal council, and there were subgroups within the tribal council also involved in the consultation, and there, there was actual friction between the groups as to who the consultation would occur with.  There is not the same friction here.

And the Court ultimately finds that there was –- well, everybody ultimately admitted there was a duty to consult held, and the Court ultimately held that the duty had been breached.


But here, I just want to deal with this constitutional point.

If you go to the middle of paragraph 68, you will see that it says:

"The Crown’s duty to act honourably toward First Nations makes consultation a constitutional imperative.  Difficult as it might have been to fulfill, it could not be compromised in order to make the process more efficient."

So that is the first point I want to make.  This is just simply about ensuring that you stay inside the bounds of the Constitution.

The second point I want to make is about consultation generally, and this is to frame the analysis you are going to hear.  And the fundamental point I want to make is that the idea of the duty to consult is that it is supposed to achieve a reconciliation between Aboriginal people and non-Aboriginal society, particularly given that there is the sense amongst Aboriginal people that their interests and concerns have largely been left out of government decision-making over the years.

And I would like you to turn to the Mikisew case, which is found at tab 2 of our book of authorities, so it is in volume 1.  And conveniently, I would like you to turn to paragraph 1 of the decision.  It is page 9.

And here, Justice Binnie - again, writing for the whole Court - says this:

"The fundamental objective of the modern law of aboriginal and treaty rights is the reconciliation of aboriginal peoples and non-aboriginal peoples and their respective claims, interests and ambitions.  The management of these relationships takes place in the shadow of the long history of grievances and misunderstanding.  The multitude of smaller grievances created by the indifference of some government officials to aboriginal peoples' concerns and the lack of respect inherent in that indifference has been as destructive of the process of reconciliation as some of the larger, more explosive controversies."

I will also refer you to the end of paragraph 3.  This was about a winter road through a park.  So top of page 11, about halfway down through the paragraph:

"The fact that the proposed winter road directly affects only about 14 Mikisew trappers and perhaps 100 hunters may not seem very dramatic (unless you happen to be one of the trappers or hunters in question) but, in the context of a remote northern community of relatively few families, it is significant."

Here is the important point:

"Beyond that, however, the principle of consultation in advance of interference with existing treaty rights..."

And I just pause for a moment.

In your Hearing Order, you reference Aboriginal rights; it is actually treaty rights as well as Aboriginal rights that are at issue here.
"...is a matter of broad general importance to the relations between aboriginal and non-aboriginal peoples.  It goes to the heart of the relationship and concerns not only Mikisew but other First Nations and non-aboriginal governments as well."

And then Rio Tinto, which is the next tab, I am going to tell you that ultimately Rio Tinto is -- the case is going to answer almost all of your questions, is the -- hot-off-the-press Supreme Court of Canada cases are generally a pretty good guide as to what the law is, rather than older cases.

I would just like you to turn to tab -- sorry, excuse me, paragraph 83.  Unfortunately, the pages aren't numbered so...

So tab 3, paragraph 83.  I want you to see this so you have a sense of what the duty to consult looks like, because it is actually important to understand this when you hear the Board's -- the Board Staff submit that the hearing could be consultation.  And just at the top of the page that has paragraph 84 on it, this is a description of how consultation works.
"Both parties must meet in good faith, in a balanced manner that reflects the honour of the Crown, to discuss development with a view to accommodation of the conflicting interests.  Such a conversation is possible where resource has long since been altered and the present government conduct or decision does not have any further impact on the resource."

And the two things to note there is that it has to be before the change has happened.  Unfortunately, here Union Gas has actually cleared part of the right of way, but it is also a conversation.  It is a discussion.  It is not a hearing.  It is actually something that involves an iterative engagement.

And the last introductory point I want to make, and I think you have actually referred to this indirectly, this is a scoping hearing.  You are going to hear various submissions, judging from my friends' written submissions, about whether there's standing, whether there has been good consultation, whether there have been meetings, whether the First Nations have blown off meetings, whether the companies have blown off meetings.

These are all factual matters, as much as they are legal matters.  And at this hearing, without a full evidentiary record in front of you, particularly, you know, with the government sending letters on Friday, you know, which Union Gas then files, you should not and cannot make a decision at this hearing.

Consultation cases, when you get to the substantive resolution of these issues, require a proper factual matrix.

I just highlight in the Rio Tinto case -- I just want to take you through a few quick references, so tab 3 again, paragraph 60 first, just in the middle of paragraph 60:
"Consultation itself is not a question of law; it is a distinct, often complex, constitutional process and, in certain circumstances, a right involving facts, law, policy, and compromise."


So when you have to assess it, you have to look at the whole factual record, and I can assure you government letters don't always portray the same picture that First Nations will have of the engagement.

Paragraph 79, I just want to highlight at the end of paragraph 79 -- because in Rio Tinto, what happened, there was a scoping hearing with evidence.  So they actually heard evidence about the effects and the potential effects.  The Board in that case made finding about what the effects were, found there were no effects and decided not to go on with a further hearing, but there was an evidentiary hearing.

Just going to the bottom of paragraph 79, though, you see what the test is for going on to a full evidentiary hearing:
"If, in applying the test set out in Haida Nation, it is arguable that a duty to consult could arise, the Commission would have been wrong to dismiss the rescoping order."


Then, finally, paragraph 93, I just highlight that is a summary of what the Board did in that case and the type of examination they engaged in, which you can't engage in at this scoping order.

Next I would like to go to the first question you have asked, which is the question of contemplated conduct.  And what we say the contemplated conduct is is in fact the various conduct, such as the construction of the pipeline and the provision of gas pursuant to the various certificates applied for.

And it is important to appreciate how this concept of conduct and Crown action is framed, and the Rio Tinto case really gives a complete examination of it.  I would like to go to tab -- paragraph 42 of the Rio Tinto case where it discusses Crown conduct or decision:
"Second, for a duty to consult to arise, there must be Crown conduct..."

And I underline the next words:
"...or a Crown decision that engages a potential Aboriginal right.  What is required is conduct that may adversely impact on the claim or right in question."


When it is a Crown decision, it is the conduct that is the subject matter of the decision that is at question.  And in this case I highlight -- and this is different than the National Energy Board, you, under section 4 of the act, are a Crown agent.  You are in fact making a delegated Crown decision.  The various decisions before you are Crown decisions.

And that raises the nice question of who should be doing the consultation, and how should it be done.


But in terms of this question of the trigger for the duty, you are a Crown decision maker, making a decision with respect to various conduct that is described in the application.

Paragraph 43, this raises the question of what government action engages the duty to consult.  It has been held that such action is not confined to the government exercise of statutory powers.

And at paragraph 44:
"Further, government action is not confined to decisions or conduct which have an immediate impact on lands and resources.  A potential for adverse impact suffices. Thus, the duty to consult extends to 'strategic, higher level decisions' that may have an impact on Aboriginal claims and rights ... Examples include the transfer of tree licences..."

That was in Haida, "which would have permitted the cutting of old-growth forest", the approval ever a multi-year forest plan and infrastructure inquiry.

And I just highlight in the Haida case, the proponent was a company that harvested trees.  It was a private party.


In Dene Tha', which was the case involving the McKenzie gas project and the pipeline in that case, the proponent was Imperial Oil and the various other members of the consortium that were proposing to build the pipeline.

It was not the Crown that was actually going to be doing the action.  In fact, part of it would have been NGTL for a connecting facility.

So what is important is to appreciate that in most of these consultation cases, the actual physical impact on the Crown -- on the ground is done by a private proponent.  It is rarely done by the Crown, except in cases like Carrier Sekani or Rio Tinto where you actually have a Crown agent that is going to be doing the work, is that ultimately what is important in these situations is that the Crown's responsibility is to engage in adequate consultation.

I just want to take you to paragraph 57 of Rio Tinto.  This, in our view, describes what your role ultimately should be, is:
"Alternatively, the Legislature may choose to confine a tribunal’s power to determinations of whether adequate consultation has taken place, as a condition of its statutory decision-making process."


So that is if you aren't doing the consultation.  Your role is to decide whether adequate consultation has taken place as a condition of its statutory decision-making process.

In this case, the tribunal itself is not engaged in the consultation.  Rather, it is reviewing whether the Crown has discharged its duty to consult with a given First Nation about potential adverse impacts on their Aboriginal interests relevant to the decision at hand.

So the question for you to ask is:  However it is done, on the basis of the evidence put before you, has the consultation that is adequate to the point in time where your decision is made been done?  If it hasn't, then the decision is essentially out of bounds.

From our perspective, in terms of your jurisdiction to consider these issues, Rio Tinto provides a complete answer.  There is a couple of pieces to this.

First, the Energy Board can consider questions of law, including constitutional questions, and Rio Tinto deals with this at paragraph 69.

Just in the middle of the paragraph:
"The power to decide questions of law implies a power to decide constitutional issues that are properly before it, absent a clear demonstration that the Legislature intended to exclude such jurisdiction from the tribunal's power ...'[S]pecialized tribunals with both the expertise and authority to decide questions of law are in the best position to hear and decide constitutional questions related to their statutory mandates.'"

So when the question comes up of has there been sufficient consultation with respect to this pipeline, or for example, is this pipeline and delivery of natural gas related to the Goldcorp activities or is that a speculative question, those are questions that you are well placed to consider.  This is the kind of thing that the Board deals with.

And what the Court is saying, it is right to have these dealt –- these constitutional issues that are related to that dealt with in the same place.  Parties shouldn't be sent off to different places to deal with different aspects of the same decision.

If you go to paragraph 70, and this is talking about the Public Utilities Commission:

"Beyond its general power to consider questions of law, the factors the Commission is required to consider under section 71 of the Utilities... Act, while focused mainly on economic issues, are broad enough to include the issue of Crown consultation with Aboriginal groups.  At the time, s. 71(2)(e) required the Commission to consider 'any other factor that the Commission considers relevant to the public interest'.  The constitutional dimension of the duty to consult gives rise to a special public interest, surpassing the dominantly economic function of the consultation of the Utilities... Act."

And in that case, where you had a Crown agent in front of the Board, the question was:  How can a contract formed by a Crown agent in breach of a constitutional duty be in the public interest?

In our situation, we say the submission that you could say it is in the public interest to approve a project when there is a breach of the duty to consult, a constitutional duty, which is one of the submissions made for you, is wholly wrong on the face of Rio Tinto.

The Constitution is the supreme law of Canada.  It confines the actions of all government decision makers.

Now, paragraph 71 and -- I just want to highlight.  In British Columbia, there is actually a law that said that the British Columbia Utilities Commission couldn't consider constitutional questions.  And in paragraph 71, the Supreme Court of Canada said even though there is this rule about not considering constitutional questions, that law was sufficiently narrow, in terms of what they were talking about -- that is, finding laws unconstitutional -- than it did not bar the Public Utilities Commission from still considering the constitutional issues.

In Ontario, there is no such bar on you considering constitutional questions.  So you don't even have to get over that hurdle.

I just want to turn to -- because this is really the home of this case, this principle -- the Conway case at tab 14, paragraph 81.

And here the question was considering Charter issues.  But this is the case that the Supreme Court of Canada applied in Rio Tinto.  There was a reference to Conway in the passage I read to you.

So just going to the second sentence in paragraph 81:
"To make this determination, the –-"

That is whether the Board can consider questions of law.
"...the first question is whether the administrative tribunal has jurisdiction, explicit or implied, to decide questions of law.  If it does, and unless it is clearly demonstrated that the Legislature intended to exclude the Charter from the tribunal's jurisdiction, the tribunal is a court of competent jurisdiction and can consider and apply the Charter and Charter remedies when resolving matters properly before it."

The last point is that you have the jurisdiction to grant the remedies sought.  The remedies sought in this case - which is different than in Standing Buffalo - is simply this:  We say that because of the lack of consultation, you should dismiss the application for the certificates and the approvals.  You clearly have the power to decline to approve these projects and the franchise and the certificate.

That is the only remedy we seek.  We don't seek any orders against the Crown, orders against Union Gas to do anything in particular.  We're saying that when the evidence is all put before you, there has been inadequate consultation to allow you to approve this project.

On that point I want to address Standing Buffalo.  Standing Buffalo is a case referred to by the Board Staff.  It is a pre-Rio Tinto case.  And to the extent that its reasoning conflicts with Rio Tinto, the Rio Tinto case, as a Supreme Court of Canada decision, stands as the governing authority.

But ultimately the result in Standing Buffalo was correct, and in that regard, it is important to understand exactly what they were seeking in Rio Tinto.  In Rio –- sorry, in Standing Buffalo.

In Standing Buffalo, they were not asking that the Board hear the matter and determine whether or not to grant the certificate.  That is what we're asking you to do.  That is what was asked in Rio Tinto.

In Rio Tinto and in this case we are saying that the Board has jurisdiction to get on with matters, including dealing with the certificate.  We just say you should deny the certificate.

In Standing Buffalo -- and it is found in the Board Staff's book of authorities, paragraph 10 -- sorry, it is at tab 4.

Oh, sorry.  Maybe --


MS. HARE:  We don't have the Staff compendium.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.  We will bring them up, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, should we have been assigning exhibit numbers to these documents?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I suppose we should, Madam Chair.  Let's catch up on that.

We will assign the two-volume book of authorities of the Grand Council as Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  GRAND COUNCIL BOOK OF AUTHORITIES.

MR. MILLAR:  And since you have now got the Staff one before you, we will call that K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  STAFF COMPENDIUM OF AUTHORITIES.

MR. JANES:  So Standing Buffalo is at tab 4.  If you go to paragraph 10, you will see there is several applications here, but they all amounted to the same thing.

If you if to paragraph 10, you see the issue referred to at the beginning of these reasons was --


MS. CONBOY:  I'm sorry, I am going to hold you there.  I think we might have been -- have we got the right exhibit, Mr. Millar?  I seem to have –-

MR. MILLAR:  What is on the cover page?

MS. CONBOY:  It says "Applicant's Book of Authorities."

MR. MILLAR:  No, I'm sorry.  We've provided you with the wrong one.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  My apologies.  Here is the correct book.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Madam Chair, we don't appear to have one.  Goldcorp doesn't appear to have a copy of the Board's book of authorities.

MS. HARE:  Are there additional copies?

MS. CRNOJACKI:  We have an extra copy.

[Ms. Crnojacki passes copy to Mr. Blue]

MR. JANES:  So tab 4, now --


MS. CONBOY:  Sorry.  Perhaps at a break, we could make available a couple of more copies for the other parties in the room, please.

MR. JANES:  So tab 4, paragraph 10, the issue is described.

And what happened was that there was a preliminary motion brought before the National Energy Board.  And if you see, the relief they sought was this:

"A decision that the Board has no jurisdiction to consider the Southern Lights application on its merit, without first determining whether Standing Buffalo has a credible claim within the meaning of the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in Haida, a decision that the duty of fairness requires that the Crown be required to attend and respond to Standing Buffalo's claim, and that in the absence of such response from the Crown, Standing Buffalo's claim should be accepted as uncontradicted and that the Board should then determine that it is without jurisdiction to determine the substantive merits of the Southern Lights application."

And the point here is that in Standing Buffalo, the moving parties, the First Nations, were trying to say that the NEB didn't have jurisdiction to deal with the matter until consultation issues were first resolved.

That is not what we were saying and that is no not what the Court decided in Rio Tinto.  What the Court decided in Rio Tinto was that the boards have jurisdiction to proceed on to the merits, and as a part of dealing with the merits, they must deal with any constitutional limits.

So on that basis, the Standing Buffalo case was correctly decided, but to the extent that it has reasons that conflict with this idea that the duty to consult is triggered whenever there is a Crown decision that contemplates a course of conduct, even by a private proponent, the duty to consult is triggered.  Standing Buffalo is just wrong on its reasoning, but of course appeals are from orders, not reasons.


So the Supreme Court of Canada dismissed the leave application in Standing Buffalo.


The other case that is referred to is the Brokenhead decision, and again it is important to understand why that decision is different.  The Brokenhead decision, it is cited for the proposition that you can -- that the First Nations should pursue its remedies in court and see -- in the Brokenhead case, that is where they went.


What is important to appreciate, though, that there is a key difference between the way -- Brokenhead actually dealt with the same pipelines as Standing Buffalo, but in a different proceeding.


What happened in Standing -- in Brokenhead was that the Brokenhead First Nation, instead of going to Federal Court of Appeal and challenging the decision of the NEB, judicially reviewed the Governor General in Council before the Federal Court.


What is important to appreciate -- I would just ask you to go to my book of authorities, volume 2.  I guess that is Exhibit K1.2.  I would just ask you to go to tab 33, so the second-last tab.


MS. HARE:  Just a small correction to the transcript.  I think we gave both volumes the same exhibit number, K1.1.


MR. JANES:  Oh, okay.  So K1.1, volume 2, tab 33.  Here you will see the section of the National Energy Board Act that governs pipelines in the National Energy Board context.


"The Board may", and I underline the next words:

"...subject to the approval of the Governor in Council, issue a certificate in respect of a pipeline if the Board is satisfied that the pipeline is and will be required by the present and future public convenience and necessity and, in considering an application for a certificate, the Board shall have regard to all considerations that appear... relevant, and may have regard to the following...,"


Including the public interest."


But the point here is that in the National Energy Board context, it is a dual decision.  The Board has a role in the decision and the Governor General In Council has a role in the decision.


And the issuance of a certificate of public convenience and necessity requires both.  You, by contrast, are the end of the road on this process.  You have a unitary decision-making process which is reflective of the fact you are a Crown agent.  You are the Crown in a way that the National Energy Board isn't.


And so in the Brokenhead case, there was actually a different decision that could be judicially reviewed, which isn't the case in your case, because in your situation the Lieutenant Governor in Council does not have to approve the issuance of your approvals.  Once you make the decision, it is made.


And if you go to the Staff book of authorities, actually, unfortunately, I think I have to look at the brief of authorities.  It is paragraph 21.


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, which tab?


MR. JANES:  Sorry, it is tab 3.


So paragraph 21, this describes how this judicial review arises.

"For the sake of argument, I am prepared to accept that an approval given by the GIC under s. 52 of the National Energy Board Act may, in an appropriate context, be open to judicial review in accordance with the test established in Thorne's Hardware... on the basis of a failure to consult.  It is enough for present purposes to say that where a duty to consult arises in connection with projects such as these it must be fulfilled at some point before the GIC has given final approval for the issuance of a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity by the NEB."


So the point here is that there is a Crown decision maker to be reviewed and that the duty to consult has to be dealt with before that decision maker makes its decision.


In your case, there isn't that intermediate step.  So the Brokenhead case is not particularly helpful in figuring out how things should be dealt with here in Ontario.


So the second question I would like to -- so in my submission, that really ends the discussion around the first question, is that the duty to consult is triggered when private proponents are taking actions which are subject to Crown decision-making.  And in this case you have a private proponent proposing an activity that is subject to Crown decision-making, and then we have the question of what effects have to be considered, which is the second question.


So does the Board -- effectively are you asking:  Does the Board have the jurisdiction or the duty to consider the indirect effects of the project under this approach?


In my submission, it is actually a relatively simple question to answer, is that the court in Rio Tinto makes it clear that the duty to consult is not limited to consideration of direct effects or immediate effects.  There is no doubt -- it doesn't extend to speculative effects or effects that are not reasonably foreseeable.  But it is certainly encompasses both direct and indirect effects, and, in this case, once you have jurisdiction to determine the question of whether -- and the duty to determine whether or not there's been adequate consultation, there is no consultation light or reduced consultation.


You have to consider whether or not the duty to consult has, in fact, been carried out, having regard to the case law applicable to the duty to consult.


And that involves, in our submission, any relevant facts that can be established on the evidence - and there would have to be an evidentiary hearing - to be reasonably connected with, not speculative, this project, whether direct or indirect.


Now, in this case, you know, I don't think Goldcorp is contributing work, just as a matter of common sense, to this project, and as this project's first customer, out of the goodness of their heart.  This is not a gift to Union Gas, you know, sort of a 60th birthday present or something like that.


This is done because this is an intimate part of undertaking their ultimate development.  So you are going to have to look at the question of whether or not consultation was appropriate in that context, that there is this linkage.


Now, it may be that on the facts, when a full evidentiary hearing is had, Goldcorp can convince you or Union Gas can convince you that it is entirely speculative whether there is a relationship between this pipeline and the mine.  And we will deal with that evidence when the time comes.


But the fact that it is indirect, the case law suggests, does not mean it is not to be contemplated.


I would like to take you to Rio Tinto in that regard, and I have read part of this to you already, tab 3 of Exhibit K1.1, paragraph 44.


MR. BLUE:  While my friend is looking that up, I note he is now five minutes past his 50-minute time allocation that he volunteered to accept.


MR. JANES:  I have 12 minutes left.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Blue, we could like to keep people to their timelines, but this isn't a court where you get 20 minutes and you stop at 20 minutes.


MR. JANES:  In fairness, I also put a timer on it.


MS. HARE:  In fairness, we started at 25 to and we spent a few minutes, so please continue.


MR. JANES:  Right.  At paragraph 44, I read to you that it is not confined to conduct which have immediate impact on land and resource uses, and paragraph 45 describes the test:

"The claimant must show a causal relationship between the proposed government conduct or decision and a potential for adverse impacts on pending Aboriginal claims or rights."


So there does have to be some kind of causal connection that has to be established on the evidence.


Paragraph 46 talks about mere speculation is not enough, but that you take a generous approach to this.


Paragraph 47 makes the point that there don't have to be physical impacts.

"Adverse impacts extend to any effect that may prejudice a pending Aboriginal claim or right. Often the adverse effects are physical in nature. However, as discussed in connection with what constitutes Crown conduct, high-level management decisions or structural changes to the resource's management may also adversely affect Aboriginal claims or rights even if these decisions have..."

And I just underline:

"...no immediate impact on the land or resources.  This is because such structural changes to the resource management may..."

Then I underline the next words:

"...set the stage for further decisions that will have a direct adverse impact on land resources."

This pipeline is part of setting the stage for the further development of the Red Lake area and the mine.

And they talk about, for example, a contract; transferring a resource could extend the duty to consult.

I referenced for your consideration the Adams Lake case, and the Adams Lake case, which is found at our tab 31, the situation was it was actually an incorporation of a municipality, and the Court held the fact that this was linked to the development of a ski hill, which there were concerns about, was enough to trigger the duty to consult.

I will just give you some paragraph references.  Paragraphs 144, 145, 181, 184 and 188, and actually, I will take you to 188 -- actually, I will just leave you with those paragraph references.

The one that I would like to actually take you to is Dene Tha', which is a pipeline case -- I figure you might as well hear one pipeline case from me –- which is tab 11 of our book of authorities.

And this was the Mackenzie Valley pipeline case.


Here, the issue was the failure to consult over the setting up of the environmental review process; not of the project approval, but of the environmental review process.

And the Crown's argument was consultation occurs down the road, either when the certificate of public convenience and necessity is being considered, or alternatively, when actual on-the-ground permits are being issued.  At that point in time, you could deal with archaeology and all of those things.

If you go to paragraph 100, which is at page 26, you see, dealing with the third question first -- that is, what is the conduct contemplated:

"The conduct contemplated here is the construction of the MGP.  It is not, as the Crown attempted to argue, simply activities following the Cooperation Plan and the creation of the regulatory and environmental review processes.  These processes, from the Cooperation Plan onwards, were set up with the intention of facilitating the construction of the MGP."
That is an indirect matter.
"It is a distortion to understand these processes as hermetically cut off from one another.  The Cooperation Plan was not merely conceptual in nature.  It was not, for example, some glimmer of an idea gestating in the head of a government employee that had to be further refined before it could be exposed to the public.  Rather, it was a complex agreement for a specified course of action, a roadmap which was intended to do something.  It was intended to set up the blue print from which all ensuing regulatory environmental review processes would flow.  It is an essential feature of the construction of the MGP."

And on that point, I just want to, as Board counsel has addressed it, deal with paragraph 53 of Rio Tinto.

The highlighted passage is under the heading:  "An Alternative Theory of Consultation."

In Rio Tinto, what happened was there was a finding -- there was a large dam built in the '50s, a big reservoir.  There was all kinds of effects from the dam and reservoir.

Rio Tinto concerned a power sale agreement, which the Public Utilities Commission found, as a finding of fact, had no effect on the Aboriginal people.  The decision at question had no effect.

And what the Aboriginal people argued was that the historic effects triggered the duty to consult.  And what the Court found was that while direct effects in the future and indirect effects in the future could trigger the duty, direct or indirect effects in the past could not.

So at the bottom of page 53, what the Court said was - sorry, tab 53 - sorry, paragraph 53.

In the second sentence -- third sentence, it says:

"It confines the duty to consult to adverse impacts flowing from the specific Crown proposal at issue."

But read in the context of the earlier passages, their concept of flowing from include both direct and indirect.  And the point here is that it does not include historic.  There has to be something going forward.

And then my final point on this thing is that Greenfields case that has been cited to you, and Greenfields doesn't deal with the question of constitutional considerations.  It finds that certain considerations are outside the scope of the statutory framework, essentially because they're too indirect.

But you've got Rio Tinto saying that the question of consultation, and not some kind of reduced form of consultation, is squarely before tribunals in your situation.

So the Greenfields case is entirely correct for what it is dealing with, which is:  What is the scope of statutory considerations?  But is not correct in terms of describing how you approach the duty to consult.

And then the last point I wish to deal with, which is the easiest one, is the delegation point.  I think all parties are agreed that the duty to consult cannot be delegated in its entirety.  Only procedural aspects of the duty to consult can be dealt with.

The Board's question then appears to be:  Can it be delegated by implication?

There is no case that squarely deals with this, but I would just highlight that both Canada and Ontario have articulated policies or draft policies dealing with consultation, which are instructive.

Essentially, what the courts have decided, the duty to consult is the Crown's duty.  The Crown has to manage it, the Crown has to decide how it is to deal with it, and the Crown is held accountable for not dealing with it.

In both the Ontario -- the Ontario guidelines, which are found at tab 30, and Canada's guidelines –- well, I will take you to Canada's -- Ontario's guidelines first.  Page 14, behind tab 30.  It talks about a ministry must assess its approach.  If you go over to page 15, you will see that a ministry -- the third-last bullet.  One of the things that has to be considered is:  Will proponents or third parties -- what role will third parties or proponents have with respect to the ministry's consultation process?

So it implies consideration and determination, rather than something that would be done by implication.

And if you go to tab 29, which is Canada's policy, page 29, you will see on the right-hand side of the page it talks about reliance on industry consultation.

And again, it talks about whoever, the decision maker, having to make decisions about how to approach this.  And if you look at the second-last bullet, you will see it says one of the things that has to be considered, has to be decided, is what procedural aspects of the consultation is the Crown delegating, if any.

And again, I would suggest that that militates against finding there could be implicit delegation.

And at the very least, there has to be some evidence to support what is -- a determination of what has been delegated, and then what is to be done with that delegated information by the Crown, that delegated role by the Crown.

So in my submission there really shouldn't be implied delegation.  There has to be some evidence that allows you to conclude there has been an explicit delegation, since it is the Crown's duty and not the company's.

And subject to any questions you may have or may have, those are my submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. HARE:  I have one question, and it goes back to the remedies that you are seeking in this case.

You indicated you are asking this Panel to dismiss the application and decline the approvals.

MR. JANES:  Correct.  That is ultimately -- if we have a proper evidentiary hearing, what we will ask you to do is to dismiss the application for the various approvals, and the finding of fact that we would ask you to make is that there has been inadequate consultation.

In other words, that if you approved it, you would be approving something in breach of the duty to consult.

MS. HARE:  My question was going to be:  Is it actually you are asking us to do dismiss it, or to delay for further --


MR. JANES:  Well, okay.  As a practical matter, you have -- you control your own process.  So, for example, you would have the option of saying to the company, and the company has the option of asking if it appears that there is a problem, Look, you know, we're looking at this and we think there is a problem.  We would like to adjourn this matter so proper consultation can occur.

That is something that is in your discretion to decide, and I think we would be content with that, but that is a procedural remedy.

In terms of your ultimate jurisdiction, it is tied to your substantive power to dismiss the application.  So you would certainly have the option of doing that, to say that if you have identified an issue, you could make a procedural order adjourning the matter and allowing consultation to occur, allowing the parties to come back and adduce further evidence, and then make a determination at the time, or, alternatively, dismiss and they could re-apply.

But, yes, you would have that option.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. CONBOY:  I have just one question, please.

Some of the other parties to this proceeding have cited the Ontario Energy Board's environmental guidelines for the location, construction and operation of hydrocarbon pipelines and facilities in Ontario, and there is a specific section on aboriginal consultation.

How does that fit in with what you have presented today?

MR. JANES:  Right.  So the way it fits in is this, is that when the issue comes before you - and Haida goes through this - there is a number of things that can be done.  First of all, you can look at what procedures have in fact been put in place and are they reasonable?  Have they in fact been followed, and then are they adequate to address all of the issues?

So, for example, if the evidence was put before you that, Look, these guidelines are articulated, these guidelines in fact deal with all of the consultation issues, and these guidelines were in fact followed, right, those are all things that can be put before you as evidence, and then you -- you know, there would be an argument about whether or not that is adequate.

But that is a determination that would have to be made.  There is no doubt that the existence of those -- the existence of other processes is something that you can consider as a part of determining whether or not consultation has been fulfilled, and that includes -- and I don't disagree with my friends.  You can also consider whether or not they are after-the-fact processes that might be adequate.

But as each part of that, you have to look at the question of whether or not those processes are, in fact, adequate and have in fact been followed.

Now, ultimately our submission would be, I suspect -- and I have to say that since we're at the scoping stage, we haven't put all of our case together yet.

MS. CONBOY:  Sure.

MR. JANES:  What I would say is these guidelines are overly narrowly focussed in terms of the constitutional consultation issues.

This is an ongoing part of the consultation fight, if you wish, is that, as a general rule, governments and proponents take, like, a site-specific, project-specific approach to consultation.

They say, you know, Basically tell us what berry bushes are in the way so we can go around them.  Tell us if they're burials in the way so we can avoid them or relocate them.  Tell us, you know, if this is going through your reserve.  So talk physically about the pipeline.

And the First Nations generally in consultation say, No, no, the question of consultation is wider than that and you have scoped it too narrowly.

So the way this fits in is ultimately, at an evidentiary hearing, that could be brought forward.  It could be examined whether or not that is an adequate -- if that adequately addresses the duty to consult, could be -- would be addressed and you would have to make a determination in that respect.

And to be honest with you, because I haven't come prepared to do our final argument, I can't really address the details of that, but that is where it fits into your process.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Major, are you prepared today to make your submissions?
Submissions by Mr. Major:

MR. MAJOR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am.

Mr. Janes has taken the Board through a review of the case law, so I won't be doing that.  What I propose to do in my submissions is talk, first, as an introduction about the context of why Lac Seul is here and why they're here at this late stage in the hearing, and then look at where the submissions from the various parties fall out in terms of the three questions, and, finally, address some of the issues that were raised in the Board Staff submissions, and take issue with them, because, in my submission, they were the outlier in the arguments that were put forward in answering the three questions.

We appreciate the opportunity the Board has granted for Lac Seul to appear today and intervene at this late stage.

So the reason Lac Seul is here is referred to in the letter that the Crown filed on Friday with all of the parties and the Board.  The Crown said in that letter that they met in May with Lac Seul and that there was not an indication from Lac Seul at that time about concerns with the project.

They did then meet with Lac Seul again in June, and what the Crown states is that the officials from Lac Seul explained that Lac Seul First Nation was in the process of finalizing and filing a specific claim with the federal government relating to lands near Bruce Lake.  It is not yet known whether the proposed pipeline will cross lands that Lac Seul is asserting an interest in, but this will be monitored.

So it came to the attention of Lac Seul quite recently that there may be overlap between this project and their claim at Bruce Lake.  As a result of that, Lac Seul did the most reasonable thing and informed everybody involved of this potential problem.

Now, the reality is that Lac Seul, like most First Nations, is not on a level playing field with the industry.  Lac Seul is negotiations with Goldcorp, with Rubicon, with other companies.  There is over 20 mining exploration companies operating in Lac Seul's traditional territory.

There is major projects like this gas pipeline, electrical transmission lines being developed in Lac Seul's traditional territory, and each of the companies engaged in these projects have staff that do nothing but deal with First Nations.  They have full-time legal counsel.  They have ready access to outside consultants.

Lac Seul First Nation has a staff of two people to deal with all of this, and it is just not enough -- and that is more than most First Nations have.  That is just not enough to stem the tide of environmental studies, consultant reports, legal briefings that they have to deal with.

I say that for two reasons.  One is it is easy for the companies to say that First Nations can come and participate in hearings like this and make their cases known, but it is not that simple.

First Nations, Lac Seul included, do their best to track the issues, but they are just under-resourced to keep up with the Crown and with the companies.

In this particular case, as I mentioned, it didn't come to their attention until the eleventh hour about a possible conflict between the claim and the pipeline that is being proposed.

As Mr. Janes points out, it is a history, particularly with Lac Seul, of feeling left out of government decision-making and industry development in their traditional territory.

Next, I just want to talk about the three questions and what the submissions were from the various parties.

The first issue:  What is the conduct the Crown has contemplated that has a potential to adversely impact on aboriginal right or title?

Now, with the exception of the OEB Staff, the parties are in agreement that there are Crown actions in the present case that could impact treaty rights.  This is acknowledged in the Crown's letter that they filed on Friday.  So even the Crown recognizes that.

Now, of course, there is a difference in opinion between the parties on the severity of those potential impacts on treaty rights, and also a corresponding difference in opinion on what the level of consultation needs to be as a result of those impacts.

But, overall, in the submissions, there was agreement that there is some impact.

The second issue:  What is the scope of the Board's power to review duty to consult issues associated with the project?

Again, all of the parties agree – and I apologize if I am misstating someone's position here, because I am sure they will correct me - but all the parties agree that it is within the OEB's power to review duty-to-consult issues.  And that is consistent with Rio Tinto, as Mr. Janes has taken you through.

How broad is that scope of review?

Well, the industry proponents say it is very narrow, just the direct impacts from the project.

The First Nation proponents, of course, say it is broader than that, direct and indirect impacts.

Lac Seul submits that the scope of review is as broad as any other review under the heading of public interest.  In the normal course, I am sure the OEB would consider any foreseeable impact from a project that might affect the public interest, so why would that scope be narrowed when dealing with Aboriginal interests?

The third issue -- can the Crown delegate consultation to private actors -- again, I don't think there is any disagreement among the parties that procedural aspects can be delegated; substantive aspects are the responsibility of the Crown.

And in our written submissions, paragraph 12 to 22, we set out what we see as the substantive aspects of the duty to consult that the Crown has to fulfil.

So those are how I saw the submissions from the various parties answering the questions.  Not a lot of disagreement.  As I said, I think that the biggest difference in the answers came from the Board Staff, and I would like to address some of their submissions.

First of all, page 12 in the Board submissions, they discuss what I will call the Sparrow analysis, and they state firstly that where the Crown is not a proponent in a project, that there is no duty to consult.

If you turn to their submissions, on page 12, right in the middle of the page, the Board Staff states:
"The court held, therefore –-"

That was in reference to Standing Buffalo.
"The court held, therefore, that although the duty to consult principles described in Haida Nation do not apply to this case, a separate underlying section 35 duty remains, which in this case had been adequately discharged by the NEB through its ordinary hearing process."

This is the important part:

"Where the Crown is not the proponent or active participant in a project, therefore, the duty to consult is not engaged, and a tribunal need not undertake a Haida Nation type analysis.  Instead, the issue should be considered through the lens of s. 35 and the Sparrow case:  Will the project give rise to an infringement of Aboriginal rights?  If so, is the infringement justified?  How can any infringements best be mitigated or minimized?"

Lac Seul's submission is that that is wrong for several reasons.

First of all, the duty to consult can be triggered when the Crown is not a proponent.

Secondly, there is no separate Sparrow analysis that is different from the duty to consult.

And thirdly, only the Crown can justify an infringement of Aboriginal rights.

So when the Board Staff say where the Crown is not the proponent or active participant in the project, the duty to consult is not engaged, well, as, you know, Mr. Janes pointed out earlier, in Haida, the proponent was Weyerhaeuser.  In the KI case, the proponent was Platinex.

Clearly, the duty to consult has been engaged in cases where the Crown was not the proponent.  And there is many other cases where that is -- that is the case.

The other question is:  When is the Crown not an active participant in these projects?

The Crown is always an active participant, because it requires many levels of government approval undertaken by the Crown.  These are Crown decisions.  And the duty to consult is triggered if any one of these has a potential to adversely affect Aboriginal issues.  And most of the time, they do affect Aboriginal issues, because they often involve taking up Crown lands pursuant to the treaty, and when that occurs, Aboriginal interests are engaged.

How do you construct 100 kilometre pipeline on Crown land without infringement of Aboriginal rights, or the potential infringement, or without the participation of the Crown?

Secondly, the Board Staff says in their submissions that, instead of a duty to consult analysis:

"...the issue should be considered through the lens of s. 35 and the Sparrow case:  Will the project give rise to an infringement of Aboriginal rights?  If so, is the infringement justified?  How can any infringements best be mitigated or minimized?"

Our submission is that this is premised on an impoverished view of Aboriginal and treaty rights.  It is an incorrect reading of the law.

There is no separate Sparrow test or analysis of infringement of Aboriginal rights that somehow is different from the duty to consult.  Sparrow was the genesis of the duty to consult doctrine.  The duty to consult and accommodate is the nuts and bolts of the Sparrow test.

So how can anyone, including the OEB, determine if a project will give rise to an infringement of Aboriginal rights without first consulting First Nations?

So the Board Staff's submissions are suggesting that where there is no duty to consult, that you go to the second analysis, that somehow looks at if there's been an infringement of Aboriginal rights.

Well, I am saying you can't tell if there's been an infringement unless there has been some kind of consultation with Aboriginal people.

Further, if we look at the cases from the Supreme Court since Sparrow, there is no indication from them that there is some separate Sparrow doctrine that is different from the duty to consult.

The final contention I have with the submissions of the Board Staff on this point is that only the Crown can justify an infringement of Aboriginal rights.

So the Board submissions are that in the absence of Crown participation, the Board can examine if there is an infringement of rights and take remedial action, but this just isn't the case.

There can't be justified infringement of Aboriginal rights in the absence of the Crown.  A private proponent like Union Gas, they don't have the power to justifiably infringe Aboriginal and treaty rights.

It is the Crown that has the management and control of natural resources.  They regulate and monitor them exclusively.  So the proposition that Aboriginal rights can be justifiably infringed in the absence of the Crown suggests that Union Gas did not require any Crown authorization or permissions to proceed with this project.

And of course that is not the case.

The parties concede that the Crown had a duty to consult with respect to this project.

Now, the OEB Staff submissions are right in one respect; that is, that existing treaty rights are constitutionally protected, and that's what Sparrow says.  And in an appropriate case, infringement of treaty rights may be justified as a proportionate measure, subject to judicially created requirements, ranging from consultation through compensation, to consent.

So the Staff submissions are problematic, in my submission, in that infringement can only be justified by the Crown, not the private proponents.

The Sparrow case exists as a kind of Charter section 1 justification test for section 35, because section 35 Aboriginal rights, protection of Aboriginal rights, are outside the Charter and they're sui generis.

So in justifying the infringement, the honour of the Crown remains at stake.  That is a key part of the Sparrow decision.

So it cannot be the Ontario Energy Board or the private proponent, we submit, that justifies infringement of Aboriginal rights.  It has to be the Crown.

I would like to just point -- also, this is a small thing, but on page 11 of the Board submissions, they footnote the Standing Buffalo case.  And at footnote 19 on page 11 of their submissions, they say that the court distinguished Rio Tinto on identical grounds.  In other words, the court in Standing Buffalo distinguished Rio Tinto on identical grounds.


But as Mr. Janes has pointed out, this is not the Rio Tinto from the Supreme Court.  This was the earlier BC Court of Appeal Rio Tinto.  And, in our submission, the reasons in Standing Buffalo are now superseded by the Supreme Court decision in Rio Tinto.


So all of that analysis, even if the Board Staff submissions are correct, I submit it is not relevant, because the Crown is engaged in this process.  Even the proponent, Union Gas, disagrees with the OEB Staff and submits that the Crown has an active role in this case.


At paragraph 3 in their submissions, they state the Crown is present numerous times at various stages of the approvals required for the proposed natural gas pipeline and ancillary facilities.  The Crown, federal and provincial, will be making decisions regarding permits or approvals relating to archeological resources, water stream crossings and fisheries and fish habitat.  Union submits that these decisions may trigger the Crown's duty to consult Aboriginal peoples and, as such, will provide Aboriginal peoples an opportunity to be consulted.


Moreover, the letter that was sent in by the Crown on Friday acknowledges that the duty to consult has been triggered.  So it doesn't matter what the OEB Staff or Union Gas or Goldcorp says about the existence of the duty to consult.  The Crown itself believes that the duty to consult has been triggered in this situation.


So following the OEB Staff submissions, what is the practical outcome of their analysis?  Can the OEB undertake consultations itself?  The OEB Staff submissions on page 14 - and this is about a third of the way down the page on page 14 - state:

"That is not to say, however, that the Board should not consider whether any Aboriginal rights may be infringed by the Project.  To the extent the parties choose to pursue this, the Board should examine these issues through the course of its ordinary hearing processes. Indeed the Board's process includes a thorough review of the types of issues that are likely to be of concern to LSFN and the Grand Council, and provides a natural forum to address these issues."


This is the key part:

"To the extent any Aboriginal rights are found to be potentially infringed by the Project, the Board may order whatever remediation or accommodation it finds appropriate, or even deny approval of the Project.  All of this can be accomplished through the Board's ordinary hearing process."


So, in other words, they're saying that the OEB should not assess if the duty to consult by the Crown has been met, but they should consider if there's been an infringement of Aboriginal rights and order some type of remediation or accommodation.


Now, this case provides a precise example of why that suggestion is so flawed.  If we consider the issues at stake, Union Gas proposes to build a pipeline near Bruce Lake.  The Crown is not a proponent, so the duty to consult is not triggered.


Lac Seul comes along and raises a concern that it has a claim to reserve lands at Bruce Lake, and the parties raise a possible infringement of Aboriginal rights in front of the OEB.


So what is the possible remediation or accommodation that the OEB can order that would appropriate in those circumstances?


This puts the OEB in the position of having to assess the validity of the First Nations' land claim.  In our submission, that is just not something the OEB is equipped to do.


This proposal, this suggestion by the OEB Staff, has it exactly backwards.  In the face of such a situation, the only remedy available to the OEB would be to deny the Union Gas application, because the claim is a constitutional right and Union Gas is not in a position to justify the infringement of it.


The whole point of consultation is for the Crown to assess the infringement of rights and determine the appropriate accommodation.  So only the Crown has the ability to assess the validity of the First Nations' land claim.


What the OEB Staff submissions are suggesting is that they place the OEB in that role, undertaking consultation, is there infringement of Aboriginal rights, and then determining the appropriate accommodation.


The teaching of Rio Tinto is the very opposite.  Tribunals are supposed to assess adequacy of Crown consultation.  Tribunals are not to undertake consultation themselves unless specifically empowered to do so by their governing legislation.


I am referring there to paragraphs 59 and 60 in Rio Tinto.


Finally, I want to just comment on Staff submissions at page 16 on the issue of the scope of the OEB's review.


The OEB Staff submissions state that:

"Board Staff submits that the Board's consideration of this issue should therefore be limited to any impacts directly associated with the current proposal – i.e. the gas pipeline itself."


Similarly, Union Gas says at paragraph 11 of their submissions that:

"...the Board does not have authority to consider indirect impacts associated with the Project.  The consultation must be focused on the decisions at hand, linked directly or in some reasonable way to the Project, and within the jurisdiction of the Board."


This, in my opinion, confuses the scope of consultations with the scope of the review undertaken by the OEB.  The scope of the consultations must necessarily be broad.


In Rio Tinto, the Court decided that consultations could not take into account historical failures of duty to consult, but there's been a subsequent decision, West Moberly, where the BC Court of Appeal looked at that situation.  They stated in that decision that:

"I do not understand Rio Tinto to be authority for saying that when the 'current decision under consideration' will have an adverse impact on a First Nations right, as in this case, that what has gone before is irrelevant... the historical context is essential to a proper understanding of the seriousness of the potential impacts... To take those matters into consideration as within the scope of the duty to consult, is not to attempt the redress of past wrongs.  Rather, it is simply to recognize an existing state of affairs, and to address the consequences of what may result from pursuit of the exploration programs."

There, that was a situation where a coal mining exploration company was seeking a permit, and the caribou herd had been decimated from various causes in the past.  So the finding of the Court was, of course, it is not the coal mining company's fault that the caribou herd was decimated, but the fact that the herd could possibly be wiped out by the exploration activities was something that had to be taken into account in the consultations.

And again, that point is made clear in the Treaty 3 submissions regarding the Mikisew case, as well.

So the scope of consultations on Aboriginal issues must necessarily be broad, but that is something different from the OEB's scope of review of whether the consultations were adequate or not.

Now, Union Gas has stated in their submissions, at paragraph 14, that there are no outstanding duty-to-consult issues.  They say that they've consulted with the First Nations and no significant issues were raised.

And the purpose of this hearing is not to determine the factual context of the consultations, whether they were carried out, whether they were adequate.  That requires additional determinations of fact that are not before the Board.

Just by way of example, the Crown, in the Crown's letter on Friday, they said that there was a meeting between the MNR staff and Lac Seul officials on June 13th.  Lac Seul officials raised some concerns without providing much detail.

But if you look at the actual minutes of the meeting prepared by the Ministry of Natural Resources, Lac Seul's concerns aren't vague.

The MNR tells Lac Seul at the meeting that over 90 percent of the project is on MTO right-of-way, and MNR has nothing to do with it.

Lac Seul says:  Well, we've had no communication from the MTO on this project.  MTO hasn't spoken to Lac Seul about the project, yet 90 percent of the project is on their Crown land, on their right-of-way.

So that's not vague, and that is not consultation.  So there is a substantial difference in the apprehension of the facts between the industry participants and the First Nations here.

In conclusion, I want to stress the fact and Lac Seul wants the Board to know that they're not here as an impediment to industry.  In fact, their track record demonstrates that they have worked with industry.

Lac Seul is a 25 percent partner with Ontario Power Generation in the generating station at Ear Falls.  Recently, Lac Seul's joint venture company, Obish Construction, completed a power line for Rubicon Minerals in Red Lake.

They have a track record of working alongside industry.

That said, there is also a history of Lac Seul being concerned about development going on in their traditional territory, and not having the opportunity to respond and participate in that.

So with that, I will conclude my submissions and turn it over to my colleague.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Thank you.  No questions.

The Panel is now going to take its morning break.  So we will rise and return at 11:30.

--- Recess taken at 11:12 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:34 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Dr. McIvor.
Submissions by Dr. McIvor:

DR. McIVOR:  Thank you, Chair.

Wabauskang First Nation appreciates the opportunity to be heard today as potentially -- considering our late notice of intention to participate.

I want to start by saying that Wabauskang adopts the oral submissions of my friend, Mr. Janes and Mr. Major.  There would be one clarification that I will make at the end regarding remedy, but I have confirmed with Mr. Janes that we are on the same ground.

I think it will be helpful for the Board to know that I see this as actually a pretty simple issue.  You have Haida in 2004 and you have Rio Tinto last fall, and with those two cases alone, you can decide the legal questions before you.

You have books and books of authorities, but those two cases are enough.  You do not have to go beyond them to decide the legal questions, and I will be referring to those two.

I will be referring to the two decisions at the BC Court of Appeal, Kwikwetlem, which is in your book of authorities, and that is -- the one book that I will refer to is the Treaty 3 Grand Council book.

So Haida is at tab 9, Kwikwetlem I think is at tab 17, and Rio Tinto - that is a Supreme Court decision - is at tab 10.  There is one additional authority I will refer to just for context, and that is the BC Court of Appeal decision in Carrier Sekani.  I believe Board Staff has provided you a copy of it.

MR. MILLAR:  We haven't yet, but we are having copies made as we speak.  So as soon as they arrive, we will bring them up.

DR. McIVOR:  Both Court of Appeal decisions, I am providing them and I'll be going to them simply because they help to set the context, and they are directly on point for the decisions that you have to make here.

This question came up in much the same form in December 2007 at the BC Utilities Commission, the scope.  It went to our Court of Appeal in BC, the companion cases of Kwikwetlem and Carrier Sekani.  The Court of Appeal decided these issues in BC.  Kwikwetlem was not appealed.  Carrier Sekani was, and that is what you have last fall in the Rio Tinto decision.

So with those four, mainly Haida and Rio Tinto, you can resolve and answer the scoping questions before you.

Now, I think a good place to start here is actually on the wall behind you, the crest, because it is very important to keep in mind all along that you are the Crown in this situation.  You are wearing the hat of the Crown.  And section 4(4) of the Ontario Energy Board Act confirms that.  And no one else, in regards to your decision, is wearing that hat, and that is very important.

And it is important to keep in mind that you are not here exercising your statutory decision-making power in a bubble.  You are doing it in a different situation here, because you have to step back.  You have constitutional obligations.

It is not the regular decision-making situation of the Board, because section 35 rights are triggered here, and there is no dispute about that.

So while you have to exercise your statutory decision-making powers, procedural fairness, natural justice, what the act says, upstream of that - and this is what is confirmed in the case law - is that you must ensure the Crown's constitutional obligations to Wabauskang and the other First Nations are fulfilled.  There is no question about that.  That is settled.

And as I go through, you will see you can't defer it.  You can't say someone else is going to do it.  I don't have to.  I will pass the buck.  That was attempted.  That was an argument at the BC Court of Appeal in the Kwikwetlem case.  The court said, No, you can't defer.  You've got to decide.

That question was also referred to in Rio Tinto, and the court clearly says:  Obligation must be met, period.  And I think that is important to keep in mind here, and there is no one else who is going to make the decision that you make that has stepped up and said, We will shoulder the responsibility for your decision.

So I am largely in agreement with my friends, and I will walk through some of the questions posed by the Board.  I am not going to do them in the same order as posed, until we get to the point of:  What are the Board's powers?

When we get there, you will see that I have a different position than my friends, Mr. Janes and Mr. Major.  I think it is clear on the case law and it is clear on your statute that the Board itself has the power to engage in consultation and accommodation on these questions.

So at the end, you are going to be left with two options.  You can decide to have an evidentiary hearing and decide whether or not the Crown's duty was fulfilled.

I think putting the question of the evidence aside, that one should be pretty clear even now at the outset, just on the point of who is the Crown, because whose conduct would you be reviewing?  No one is in disagreement here the duty to consult cannot be delegated to Union Gas.

So Union Gas can't fulfil it.  Even if it had been, they can't.  No one else from the Crown is stepping up and saying, We're going to consult on your decision.  So I think if we get to that hearing, setting apart the question of evidence, on the simple fact that everyone agrees the duty to consult cannot be delegated to the proponent and there is no other Crown actor here who is shouldering responsibility for your decision, the Board Staff agrees the ultimate decision of whether this project goes ahead or not is yours.

So unless you engage in consultation - and I know that's not been done yet - you are going to be led to the ultimate and unavoidable conclusion that the Crown has not fulfilled its obligations.

So to start with question 3 - I'll start at the end - this is the question about whether or not it can be delegated.  As I say, no one seems to disagree it cannot.

The point came up about whether it can be impliedly delegated.  I think the complete answer for this can be found at paragraph 53 of Haida.  That is in tab 9 of the Grand Council's book.  I don't have to take you there.  If it is handy, you can go there now.  If not, just for your notes, this is where the Court, the Supreme Court, confirms it cannot be delegated, because that was the -- one of the issues before the Supreme Court:  Can the proponent?  The court said no.

But then the important part here for your question is the last line in paragraph 53:
"The ultimate legal responsibility for consultation and accommodation rests with the Crown.  The honour of the Crown cannot be delegated."

And as section 4(4) in the Ontario Energy Board confirms, you are the Crown here.  So I am familiar with academic questions.  I did a Ph.D. in history before I was called to the bar.  I have seen them a lot.

Your question about "impliedly delegated", that is an academic one.  Nothing turns on that.  The fact is whether it can be or not doesn't get you around the point that the ultimate responsibility is yours.  So I think that is a full answer to question 3.

Now, I will back up to question one, which is the point about Crown conduct.

And I agree Mr. Janes on this.  You are dancing on the head of a needle when you try to differentiate between conduct and question.

These usually go up to the court as judicial reviews.  They're always about making decisions.  Is the Crown making a decision?

Now, that's the conduct, is making the decision.  But the ultimate point is you are solely entrusted with making the decision.  There is no doubt about that.

So, yes, that's the conduct/question, which raises -- which you must consult about.  What are the potential adverse effects of your decision?  That is settled law.  There is no question about that.

And for your notes, at Rio Tinto paragraph 35, the Court confirms there:  Before making a decision.  That is exactly what you are going to be doing under the statute, is making a decision.  That is the conduct.

Now, the point about Crown responsibility in regards to a private proponent, again, I agree with my friend, Mr. Janes, on here.  There is no differentiation in the law between whether or not it is a private proponent or not.

Standing Buffalo aside, it was superseded by the Court's decision in Rio Tinto.

The Court there, in Standing Buffalo, refers to Kwikwetlem and Carrier Sekani.  If you look at those two decisions, they did not turn on the fact that it was a Crown proponent.  The fact that it was a Crown proponent meant that there was Crown consultation that the Utilities Commission in BC could review.  There was another Crown actor wearing a hat, shouldering the responsibilities.  That is the difference.

It doesn't make a difference as to whether or not you have to ensure that the constitutional obligations are fulfilled; a Crown proponent or a private proponent.

If that was the case, Haida would be wrong, Taku would be wrong, because they were private proponents.  It was Weyerhaeuser in Haida.

So that, again, is settled law, Standing Buffalo aside.  You go to Rio Tinto for that and you go to Haida for that.

Now, question two, which was the scope of the Board's power to review, now, I think this is a really -- this is where we're getting more to the nub of things, I think, here.

And you should start at paragraph 58 of Rio Tinto, because the Court there clearly identifies what the options are for an admin tribunal in your situation.

I am trying to find my tab 58 -- or paragraph 58, I'm sorry.

The Court gets to paragraph 58, and it summarizes what the possible duties of an admin tribunal would be.

Neither of these -- which is, one, you don't have to assess, and two, you can't or don't have to take part in consultation -- one of these, so you might have to assess or you might have to consult yourself or both.  That's it.  Those are the doors available.  There is no question.

And what I say it comes down to, you fall into the last category here, both.  Assess and possibly consult, accommodate yourselves.

So at a minimum, you must assess.  I don't think there is any real disagreement on that point.  What do you assess?  You assess the adequacy of the Crown's consultation in regards to your Decision.

MS. CONBOY:  I'm sorry, you are referring us to paragraph 58?

MR. McIVOR:  Yes.  Paragraph 58 of Rio Tinto, which is tab 10 in the -- sorry?

MS. CONBOY:  Tab 3.

MR. McIVOR:  Oh, Sorry.  Sorry.  I've got the wrong tab.

MS. CONBOY:  I have the sentence that you are referring to.

MR. McIVOR:  Right.

MS. CONBOY:  "As such, they are also relevant to
determining whether a particular tribunal has a duty to consult, a duty to consider consultation, or no duty at all."

MR. McIVOR:  Right.  So this is what I'm saying.  Here, it is clear.

You can have none.  So you may not have a duty to consider adequacy and you may not have a duty to consult, right?

MS. CONBOY:  Okay.

MR. McIVOR:  Or you might just have the obligation to consider adequacy.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. McIVOR:  Or you might have the obligation to do both, adequacy and consult yourselves.

I will take you to the act, and I say it is clear on the act you have the powers of -- remedial powers to do the consultation accommodation.

So on the first point, at a minimum, you must ensure that the Crown's constitutional obligations to the First Nations are fulfilled to the point of your decision.  That's clear.  That is settled law.  And that is because, of course, you have the power to decide a question of fact, and there is no prohibition in the act to say you can't.  Those two things means we're through that door.  At a minimum, you have to decide that before you make a decision, the decision that will approve the project.

I think on the last point, it is instructive.  Section 4.11 of the Ontario Energy Board -- I won't take you there, but it sets out what your prohibitions are.

So the Legislature has turned its mind to that.  It has not prohibited you from assessing the duty to consult.  It has not prohibited you from consulting and accommodating yourselves.  And you can decide a question of law.

Now, what do you do when you get to the point of if you are assessing the adequacy of consultation?  If you get there, the answer is at paragraph 61 of Rio Tinto.

Again, it is here.  It is clear.  This isn't complicated.

And the Court says:

"A tribunal that has the power to consider the adequacy of consultation, but does not itself have the power to enter into consultations..."

So this is just if you can do the first part.
"...should provide whatever relief it considers appropriate in the circumstances, in accordance with the remedial powers expressly or impliedly conferred upon it by statute."

And this last sentence is important:
"The goal is to protect Aboriginal rights and interests and to promote the reconciliation..."

So it is set out.  I don't think there is a big debate about this.

Now, where you do get a bit of a debate, I think, and I acknowledge there can be a debate, because this -- we're entering into a new established area.  What the Court said in Rio Tinto last fall, you would be applying it here, to the question of:  Can you get involved in consultation and accommodation yourself?

You have to seriously address that, I say.  You can't stop -- I disagree with my friends saying that, no, you don't have to look at that, look at that possibility.  I say you do.  And I say when you look at the tests set out in Rio Tinto and you look at your statutes, the decisions that you are making, it is clear you can do that.

And I would say if the Crown's obligations have not been fulfilled, you should.

So start again.  When you are going to decide is there a prohibition against you getting involved in consultation accommodation yourself, again, it is clear on the statute it is not there.  So there is no prohibition.

Now, if some of the submissions before you were to the extent that -- but there has to be a positive acknowledgement or a sign of jurisdiction from the Legislature to the Board to get it.  That is not what Rio Tinto says.

Rio Tinto says you cannot get involved if you don't have the remedial powers.  So you can't do it if you are clearly prohibited, and you can't do it if you don't have the required remedial powers.

That is the test, keeping in mind that the Crown's obligation must be fulfilled, must be discharged before you make your decision.  So that is at paragraph 60 of Rio Tinto, the last sentence of paragraph 60:
"The tribunal seeking to engage in consultation itself must therefore possess remedial powers necessary to do what it is asked to do in connection with the consultation.  The remedial powers of a tribunal will depend on that tribunal’s enabling statute, and will require discerning the legislative intent."


So look at your statute.  Has the Legislature turned its mind to prohibiting you from certain things?  Yes, section 4.11.  It is not there.

Okay.  Do you have the remedial powers?  So you start with the first decision that you are being asked to make under the Ontario Energy Board Act.  So this is the section 90(1) decision.  It is going to be an order in regards to the leave to construct.  You start there.

You turn and you go to section 96(1).  It describes what your powers are when you are issuing an order, right?  It says:
"If, after considering an application under section 90, 91 or 92 the Board is of the opinion that the construction, expansion or reinforcement of the proposed work is in the public interest, it shall make an order..."


What can you do when you make an order?  Section 23(1) is the full answer:
"The Board in making an order may impose such conditions as it considers proper, and an order may be general or particular in its application."


Full stop.  There is no limitation there.  You have the remedial powers when you are making your decision under the Ontario Energy Board Act.

Now, same -- let's go to your Municipal Franchises Act, because you are making a decision under there.  I think it is important, in some of the submissions, they conflate them or they refer simply to your Ontario Energy Board decision.  I think you have to keep in mind you are making the decisions under both acts.

So there, it is under section 8 to begin.  You have to approve the work.  The approval will be in the form of a certificate.  That is 8(2), and then 8(3) is the jurisdiction:
"The Ontario Energy Board has and may exercise jurisdiction and power necessary for the purposes of this section..."


Broad.  What is necessary?  That is what you turn to.  You have the jurisdiction and the powers.

Same for your section 9 decision, which is the franchise bylaw.  Nine, you are going to approve under section (1).  (2), the Ontario Energy Board has and may exercise jurisdiction and power necessary for the purposes of this section.

Again, identical to (8).  You have the power necessary, so you have to look at what you need to do.

So I say to this there is no prohibition for the Board becoming involved in consultation and accommodation, and you have the necessary remedial powers.

Now, there are arguments you will hear against why you shouldn't -- I think the Board Staff, I stand to be corrected, raises the 1994 Quebec Hydro National Energy Board.  That decision was before the BC Court of Appeal in Kwikwetlem and Carrier Sekani, but it is important; it was not referred to in Rio Tinto.

Rio Tinto does not refer to that and say that is the law.  Rio Tinto is the law now on this specific question.  So it's been superseded by Rio Tinto.

As far as the questions of procedural fairness and natural justice, of course you will have to be mindful of those.  Every statutory decision maker must, whether you are at an admin tribunal or not.  So that doesn't differentiate.

Now, I want to turn to this question of:  Is possible future consultation -- is that enough?  You can rely on that?

Again, this is a settled question of law.  This was settled in 2004 in Haida.  The court dealt with that.  The argument there was, We don't have to fulfil our obligation under the replacement of a tree farm licence, because we are going to have cutting permits in the future.  We are going to come back and ask for those.  So we will take care of the consultation there.

The court said, No, that is decided.  You can't go there.  That is at paragraphs 75 and 76 of Haida.

Now, I am mindful I have short time, so I am not going to go to all of these, but I would urge the Court to look at these themselves just to confirm that first point.

You should also review paragraph 87 of Rio Tinto, because the court just confirms what it said in 2004.  You can't put it off.

Second, the duty must be fulfilled.  There is no passing the buck.  There is no deferring.  It must be fulfilled.  And for this, this is why I wanted to hand up - and you have it now - the Carrier Sekani decision at the BC Court of Appeal.  I would refer you to paragraphs 51 and 53, or if you don't, I won't take you there.

MR. MILLAR:  I apologize.  They haven't arrived yet.

DR. McIVOR:  I saw them referred to.  I saw the case referred to by the Board Staff, so my expectation was it would be in the authorities, and so I apologize for not --


MR. MILLAR:  I don't think I referred to this case.

DR. McIVOR:  Okay.  I assumed that it was there, but, regardless, I won't take you there.  I will take you to Rio Tinto and Kwikwetlem, which make the same point.

The point is the obligation must be met.  It can't be deferred.  For that, you can refer to paragraph 75 of Rio Tinto.  It must be met.

And you can refer to paragraph 14 of Kwikwetlem, which is tab 17 of the Grand Council.  All they do there is they refer back to Carrier Sekani.

The point is you can't put it off for someone else at another time.  I don't think there is any serious debate about this.

And, importantly, to come back again, you are the sole decision maker.  In Kwikwetlem, what the BC Utilities Commission was faced with was the Commission was making a decision on the CPC end, certificate of public convenience, for a project.

In the future, there would be a statutory decision by two ministers to issue an environmental certificate for the same project.

The argument at the court was, Well, you don't have to ensure the obligation is fulfilled here, because there will be someone down the road that will wear the hat of the Crown, will look at it all, look at it for that same project, and if they decide the duty is not fulfilled, it can't go forward.

The Court said:  No.  You've got to fulfil your constitutional obligations when you are making your decision.  You can't defer.

Now, here, you don't even have that, because there is no-one down the road who is going to make the decision about this project.  They will make subsequent secondary decisions about easements and part of which -- that is not a substitute.  That is well established in the law.

So to conclude on this point about the scope of the Board's powers, there is no prohibition to you getting involved in consultation and accommodation.  You have the sufficient remedial powers.  No other Crown agent is stepping up.  And I think it is important, when you review section 19, sub (6), you have exclusive jurisdiction over your decision.

So I will leave it for another day, whether, if someone did step up, how that would work with 19(6).

Scope of the Board's review, again, this is settled law.  It is really about the scope and content of the duty to consult once it's triggered, and there is no doubt here that it has been.  Haida says, case by case, you have to look at the particular facts, look at the strength of the claim, look at the potential impacts.  This is all in evidentiary investigation.

There has to be a preliminary assessment.  That is well established in the law.  That was established in 2004, as far as I've seen.  I have not seen one here.

I agree with my friend, Mr. Janes, direct and indirect, again, that is not the test.  It is:  What are the possible adverse impacts of your decision?  No dividing up into direct or indirect.  That is not what the case law says.  They have to be impacts of your decision, and they can be strategic-level, longer-term impacts.

A decision referred to by Kwikwetlem -- I mean by Rio Tinto is the BC Utilities Commission doing a 25-year review of transmission needs in BC.


Now, there was no particular project they were reviewing.  It was just:  What is your 25-year plan?  That triggered the duty to consult.  There was a recognition of that.

The Court refers to it.  Sure, down the road when you actually build a particular line or you build a dam, then you have to consult about that too, but you have to do it at this high level.

This point that is raised in some of the submissions about, well, look at what the causal connection is, there's a bit of confusion there.

Rio Tinto, the Supreme Court of Canada was referring to triggering.  There is two steps in duty to consult.  Is it triggered?  Then once it is, what is the scope and content?


There is no doubt here that it is triggered.  You don't have to look for that causal connection.  That is part of the triggering test.  We are past that.

And before time gets away from me, I do want to refer to specific submissions of my friends.  I won't take long on this.

But if the Court has the Goldcorp submissions before them, I am at page 2, the third full paragraph that begins with "The work that..."

Page 2 of Goldcorp, third full paragraph begins "The work will..." and I am going down to the last sentence.  "The project will have minimal impact on First Nation rights and title."

And so forth.

That is outside of the scope of your decision here today.  That requires evidence.  This is not an evidentiary hearing.


There has been no assessment done.  The full record, we say, is not before you.  You should refrain from making any decisions of fact here, any findings of fact.  Those require a full evidentiary hearing.


Again, on page 4, the last paragraph of Goldcorp's, again, they go here.  Again, Goldcorp submits a duty to consult has been satisfied.

Again, you cannot make any finding of fact on this.  You do not have a full evidentiary body before you.  This is a scoping hearing about questions of law.


Next page, page 5, second full paragraph:

"The First Nations and Grand Council Treaty 3 chose not to seize the opportunity... have not expressed any concerns with respect to this project."

Wabauskang says when you have a full record before you, you will find that that is not only not supported, but it is contrary to the record.

There's a document, a March 25th letter from my client directly to Union Gas, expressing their concerns.  It is referred to in the consultation log, but I couldn't actually find it in the attached correspondence.

So there is no doubt that, yes, their concerns have been expressed.

Goldcorp -- sorry?

MS. HARE:  Mr. McIvor, since you took us to that paragraph, I take it it is the last part of the sentence that you say is incorrect.

What about the first part?  Any comments about the submission that you, in fact, had many opportunities to participate and chose not to?

MR. McIVOR:  No.  My submissions on this point applies to -- apply to the entire paragraph.  We are not involved in an evidentiary hearing on this yet.

When we get there, there will be an answer to this.

I say it is referred to.  I just -- in the consultation log that Union Gas refers to, there is a March 25th letter from my client to Union Gas, expressing their concerns.

Whether they were timely to get involved is something for full evidence for the Board to consider.  It is not, I say, proper for the Board to make a decision on that point now.  You have to hear from the First Nations on that point.

Page 18 of Goldcorp's last full paragraph, again, they restate the refusal of First Nations to participate.  Simply, again, that is not, we say -- will not be proven out when you receive the full record.

They urge you to find that the duty to consult was at the low end.  Again, you cannot do that, I say, here.  This is a scoping hearing.  You need full evidence for that.

I am finished with Goldcorp.

Just one paragraph in the Union Gas submissions.  It's the very last -- oh, the last two paragraphs in Union Gas, paragraph 14 and 15, again, same categories.

They have referred to the lack of any project-specific concerns identified by aboriginal peoples regarding the project.

I say that is for an evidentiary hearing.  You cannot make a finding about this at that time.  And the same with paragraph 15 regarding their opportunities.

So we get to the -- to wrap up on this, the question of remedy:  What would you do?  I have discussed this with my friend, Mr. Janes.  We are of the same mind.  While you do have the powers to dismiss, it would not be fair to Union Gas and Goldcorp to dismiss as an outcome of this hearing.  That would be for down the road for a full evidentiary hearing, just as it would not be fair to Wabauskang and the other First Nation interests involved to make a finding that the duty to consult had been fulfilled or to make findings of fact.  That is not for us today.

So we say we agree if you decide to go forward with this, there should be a full evidentiary hearing.

Again, putting aside the question of what the record is, my expectation is it would be hard to show that the Crown had fulfilled its duty to consult when there was no Crown actor involved with those responsibilities.

I see that in the book of authorities - which surprised me a bit - from Union Gas, there is a letter at tab 4 from Ontario outlining what they're doing.  As far as I am aware, a letter from ministries are not an authority, but putting that aside, it is dated June 17th.  That would be for a full hearing.

My client has its own letter of June 17th on this point that is not before you.

So you may get there, but I think it will be questionable, just as a question of law, how anyone could show that duty to consult had been fulfilled when no Crown actor was shouldering the responsibility - that is, making your decision - and everyone agrees it can't be delegated to Union Gas.

So the end result, I think, will be, if you go there, you make that hearing -- you find that the duty to consult has not been fulfilled, then it is in the power of the Board to dismiss it, as Mr. Janes says, or you can shoulder the responsibility yourself.  In Rio Tinto, you meet that test.  You've got the powers under the Act.

So subject to any questions, those are Wabauskang's submissions.

[Board Panel confers]
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  Just one question.  It is clear that Wabauskang First Nation was provided notice of the application.

Do you know if the environmental assessment report and the full application were also provided?

DR. McIVOR:  Sorry, I have just been retained on this on Friday, so I don't have information from my client.

I was trying to get in touch for more details from them over the weekend.  It is a very remote location.  Their phones were down the entire time and they don't have cell phone service.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  I will be able to ask Union Gas the same question.  They will know whether it was provided or not.

Thank you.

So, Mr. Millar, on behalf of Board Staff, please.
Submissions by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

Madam Chair, I agreed to limit myself to about 30 minutes.

As Mr. Major has put it somewhat politely, Board Staff is a bit of an outlier specifically with respect to its position on question 1, so I am going to focus my comments almost exclusively on question 1.

I did file of course prefiled submissions on questions 2 and 3.  It looks like I probably won't have time to get to those, so I rely on those and you can read them.  I am sure you already have.

Before I get to right into question 1, however, I would like to address one of the comments -- one of the submissions made by Dr. McIvor.

This is with respect to his contention that you have the power or this Board has the power to undertake consultation itself.

Now, Dr. McIvor, for reasons that we've already heard, did not prefile any submissions, so this is the first I have heard this argument.  Indeed, it is the first I have ever heard this argument.

It seems Mr. Janes and Mr. Major -- I shouldn't say Mr. Major, because I don't think I heard him on this point.  Mr. Janes appears to disagree with that, at least in his prefiled submissions.  I didn't hear Mr. Major say anything to the contrary.  I am assuming both Union and Goldcorp disagree with this, as well, but I did want to get my oar in the water on this as best I can, recognizing that I haven't seen this argument before, so I had not necessarily prepared to address it.

My submission before you is that you do not have the power to undertake consultation activities yourself.  And I rely on two cases in that regard.  Indeed, I rely on the same cases my friend, Dr. McIvor, relies on, but I take obviously a slightly different view than he does.

I will address these chronologically.  I refer in my submissions, though for a different purpose, to a case called Quebec and National Energy Board.  It has been provided at tab 12 of the book of authorities of the Grand Council.  That is Exhibit K1.1.

Just to preface my comments, my argument is, while you don't have the powers, are twofold.  One, under Rio Tinto you have neither expressly or impliedly been given those powers, and, two, the one I will discuss first, is from the Quebec case where it is very dangerous for a quasi-judicial tribunal to get involved in these types of debates, to engage itself in the actual relations between the parties outside of the hearing process.  It can't work, in my submission.

The Supreme Court appears to have recognized that.  This is, again, at tab 12, the Quebec and National Energy Board.  It is a 1994 decision of the Supreme Court.  So it does predate Haida and Rio Tinto, of course.  I concede that.

But I would ask you to turn to page 21 of that decision, in particular, paragraph 34.  This is where this concern that I have just discussed is articulated by the court.

If you look at the last sentence of paragraph 34, it states:
"The courts must be careful not to compromise the independence of quasi-judicial tribunals and decision-making agencies by imposing upon them fiduciary obligations which require that their decisions be made in accordance with a fiduciary duty."


Of course the fiduciary duty they're discussing there is the one that arises from section 35.  This predates Haida, but it does not predate the discussion on section 35.

So that is one reason you should resist his invitation that you may wish to get involved in consultation.

The second is, if you go to Rio Tinto itself -- I think that is -- yes, it is tab 3 of the Grand Council's book.  We could start at paragraph 60, which is where my friend took you.

I think it bears repeating.  The court says:
"This argument cannot be accepted, in my view.  A tribunal has only those powers that are expressly or implicitly conferred on it by statute."


Hold on.  Just give me one moment.  Yes.  Then if you skip a sentence:
"The power to engage in consultation itself, as distinct from the jurisdiction to determine whether a duty to consult exists, cannot be inferred from the mere power to consider questions of law."

Then if you continue, what my friend relies on is that they continue to say:
"The tribunal seeking to engage in consultation itself must therefore possess remedial powers necessary to do what it is asked to do in connection with the consultation."


He placed a lot of reliance on that, and then he takes you to what I concede are fairly broad powers to attach conditions and whatnot.

But I don't think that gets -- I don't think that is what the Supreme Court is talking about there.  First of all, I am not sure that is any different than the powers that they have in BC.  I have just heard these arguments now, so I haven't had an opportunity to look that up, but I wouldn't be surprised if the BC Utilities Commission has the power to impose conditions, as well.

But, more importantly, I would take you to paragraph 74 of Rio Tinto.  My friend didn't take you to this paragraph, but this is where the Court discusses this issue in a little bit more detail.  It says this, "While the Utilities Commission Act", and that is the comparable act to the Ontario Energy Board Act:
"...conferred on the Commission the power to consider whether adequate consultation had taken place, its language did not extend to empowering the Commission to engage in consultations in order to discharge the Crown’s constitutional obligation to consult."


So, again, maybe when we look at the statute there will be some clear difference here, but it seems to require more than just a general power to issue orders and conditions.
"As discussed above, Legislatures may delegate the Crown's duty to consult to tribunals.  However, the Legislature did not do so in the case of the Commission."

So again, this should frame the discussion, their comments on paragraph 60.  It doesn't seem that they're talking about some general or freestanding power to issue conditions or something like that.  They seem to be contemplating that the Legislature actually think about requiring a tribunal to undertake consultation itself.

Again, my friend, Dr. McIvor, focuses on the Board's remedial powers, but of course, as you have heard from Mr. Major already, the Board doesn't necessarily have remedial powers over every aspect of the dispute amongst the First Nations and the Crown, specifically with regard to the land claims around the Bruce Lake area.

I am not aware of any argument that the Board could resolve those issues.  So I don't think the Board has any remedial powers on that side of the equation, at least.

Madam Chair, I will move now to my submissions on -- directly on question number one.  I suppose those were related to that issue as well.

You have read my prefiled submissions, so I don't intend to go through it in detail.  I am, I guess, more or less alone in my position on this, so it does behoove me to spend some time and defend myself, I suppose.

So I am going to walk through the cases and the law as I see it, and attempt as best I can to reply to the comments made by my friends.

As you will have seen in my prefiled submission -- and I don't intend to go over this in any great detail -- I think there is general agreement about what Haida says the duty to consult is.  Crown conduct might adversely impact Aboriginal or treaty rights, and then it may lead to accommodation and whatnot.  I think that is agreed by all.

It is a relatively recent doctrine.  From 2004 is when the Haida case was released, but of course, as Haida confirms, it arises directly out of section 35 of the Constitution Act, which has been in place since 1982, I believe.  And indeed, there was a significant line of cases discussing section 35 prior to Haida.

I take you to the Sparrow case.  That was one of the leading cases pre-Haida.  And the point I wanted to take from that, I guess, is twofold.

That was obviously a section 35 case.  It described the duties that were owed to Aboriginal peoples with respect to -- in that case, they were talking about legislation, but other cases expanded it or confirmed that it applied to Crown actions, including the orders of tribunals.  I don't think that is disputed.

Mr. Major, if I understood his submission correctly, says that is no longer the law, that that has essentially been replaced by Haida.

I am not sure I agree with that submission.  Haida, I guess perhaps "expands" is the correct word.  It expands upon the duties and responsibilities owed to Aboriginal peoples, builds on this duty-to-consult doctrine and responsibility, but I am not sure it replaces Sparrow.  I haven't seen any case to say Sparrow is no longer good law, and indeed, I am going to take you to Standing Buffalo, not surprisingly, before too long.

In that case, obviously, they at least seem to feel it still did apply, that the underlying -– that there was more to section 35 than simply Haida, in other words.  And even if Haida didn't apply or the tribunal didn't have to consider Haida, it still had to look at underlying section 35 protections.

So that is sort of the background.  Again, I am a relative neophyte to matters of Aboriginal consultation, unlike many of my friends, but I tried to start with the first principles and build up from there and see where we get.

So the real nature of the questions the Board has posed to the parties in this case is:  What is the exact role of tribunals with respect to the duty to consult?

I don't disagree with my friends -- except perhaps Dr. McIvor -- that where a board has the power to consider questions of law, it has the concomitant power to consider constitutional issues, including section 35.

So I don't think anyone disputes that.  Dr. McIvor takes it a little bit further, but I think he agrees with me at least that far.

I was about to say that no one said the Board should consult itself, but obviously you have heard my submissions on that already.

So the question that arises is:  What role does the tribunal play itself?

There have been a number of cases on this that have been quite instructive and very helpful.  We have struggled with this at the Board beforehand, but Rio Tinto, in particular, is helpful, though I am going to suggest other cases you should look at as well.

In my view, what the Rio Tinto and the Kwikwetlem decisions that have been referred to by my friend give a very good answer to the Board's role, where the proponent or the chief decision maker is a Crown actor of one nature or another.  It is going to be my submission that there are distinctions when that is not the case.

Again, the current case, of course, Union is the proponent.  It is a private corporation and not affiliated with the Crown.  I don't believe Goldcorp has any affiliation with the Crown either.

Again, with the exception of Dr. McIvor, everyone appears to agree the Board cannot undertake consultation itself.

So who does?  How is this duty engaged where the -- where it is not clear what Crown conduct we have.  Remember, that is the test from Haida.  There has to be conduct contemplated by the Crown.  So who is the Crown?

Again, I apologize if some of my remarks are scattered.  I am trying to fit in my responses to the individual arguments of my friends, which I have -- I have just heard their responses to me this morning, so I am trying to fit this in into natural spots.

They do point out that in many of the cases, Haida included, the ultimate proponent is private.  And that is certainly the case in some of the cases.  It is not the case in Rio Tinto, nor in Kwikwetlem, but it was in Haida and in several of these other cases, as well.

But the key distinction there was the Crown -- the Crown decision maker in those cases was a Ministry or something of that level.  It was not a tribunal.  None of those cases deal with a tribunal being the Crown decision maker.  That is what Mr. Janes has encouraged you to find, that this will -- that we're the Crown, for that purpose; not for the purposes of undertaking the consultation, but for -– the conduct, the Crown conduct is our conduct.  That is what Mr. Janes has suggested to you, and I am going to disagree with that in a moment.

But this first point I want to make is that the cases they refer to about private proponents, the activity that either the tribunal or the court was considering was the Crown's consultation effort.

In Haida, it was the minister who had to go out and he could delegate procedural aspects, but it was the Crown who granted the permit and they were the ones who did the consultation.

Here, what Mr. Janes is suggesting is we would have kind of a bifurcated type of approach, in that the Crown that triggered the duty was not the Crown that actually had to do the consultation.  I think that is what he is suggesting to you.

Again, I recognize these are thorny issues.  His position is not absurd by any stretch, and of course I think it should be considered.  But when he says the case law supports that, I don't think that is the case.  There is no case that says that, that I am aware of.

So let me take you through the two cases that I did think were helpful.  They have been discussed quite a bit.  Obviously, my friends are not enamoured with them, but I will take you to them, because I think that they're something that you should consider.

The first of these cases –- and again, all of this is referred to in my prefiled materials -- is the Brokenhead decision.  Again, this is a Federal -- it is not a Federal Court of Appeal decision.  It is also a little bit older, though, it is a 2009 case.

I won't spend the limited time I have going through it in any detail -- you will have seen my prefiled submissions -- but I think the point that they raise there was that under certain circumstances, the Board's ordinary hearing process can be a perfectly suitable forum to address issues related -- they talk about the duty to consult there, but I, I suppose, take it a step back and discuss section 35 responsibilities.

But that is what the Court said in Brokenhead, that in certain circumstances, this could apply.

Again, it is my argument that the case you had before you may be a similar case.

But I think more important is the Standing Buffalo case.  That is a more recent decision.  It is a decision of the Federal Court of Appeal.  And as my friend pointed out, though we may disagree on the reasons why, they did seek leave to appeal that to the Supreme Court and the Supreme Court declined to hear the case.  So the application was brought, but it was rejected.

So let's discuss Standing Buffalo, which you can see at tab 4 of my materials.

Again, it is a decision from late 2009 of the Federal Court of Appeal.  I think it came out approximately six months after Brokenhead.

The facts situation here, I think it bears observing, are quite similar to the facts we have in the current case.

It was a pipeline project.  The proponents in that case were private corporations.  And the First Nations groups intervened, claiming that the duty to consult had not been discharged.

They had argued before the Board, and then again before the Court, that a Haida Nation type analysis was required to determine, first, if the duty was triggered and, if so, what if any accommodation should be required.

As you will see from the case, these appeals were dismissed by the Court.  But here, the Court took a somewhat different approach from the one taken in Brokenhead.  The Court essentially found that since the project proponents were private sector entities, there was no need for the National Energy Board to undertake a Haida-type analysis.

You can see that at page 11.  I'm sorry, I may be referring to -- yes, I'm sorry, page 11 of the Staff's submission, not from the case.  From the case, I believe it is paragraphs 31 and 32 if you are looking at that.  But I will read the relative paragraph:
"In the appeals under consideration, the applications before the NEB were made by Keystone, Enbridge Southern Lights and Enbridge, private sector entities that are not the Crown or its agent. Accordingly, I am of the view that Kwikwetlem First Nation does not support the proposition that the NEB is required to undertake the Haida analysis before considering the merits of the applications..."


My friends are quite right to point out this is prior to Rio Tinto, but as I will get to -- prior to the Supreme Court decision in Rio Tinto.  There was the BC Court of Appeal decision in Rio Tinto.

But as I will get to in a moment, I don't think that would change the outcome.  I don't think Rio Tinto, the Supreme Court decision, says anything that conflicts with this.

So here we have the rejection by the Federal Court of Appeal that the Board has to do this at all.

Now, it did find, if you continue - and perhaps the best place is to look on the prefiled submission - the next paragraph I have quoted, it confirms that the underlying section 35 protections would still apply.

Although I don't know that he mentioned Sparrow directly, at least -- pardon me, the Court, because it was a three-member panel of the Court.  I don't know if he mentioned Sparrow directly there, although it does come up earlier.  I think that is what he is talking about, that a decision of a tribunal can't conflict with the constitution.

If there are private proponents, then the Sparrow-type analysis is what would apply.  You look at:  Are there any infringements?  To the extent there are infringements, are they justified, and how can they best be mitigated or avoided?  That, again, is the type of analysis undertaking and decision that the Board is well able to make.

What this Standing Buffalo decision is saying is that is what you should do.  That is how should approach these situations.

Now, maybe it is best that here I deal as best I can with Mr. Janes' comments.  He disagrees with my position, I think you heard.  And he says Rio Tinto came after this and Rio Tinto replaces that, and to the degree that Rio Tinto and Standing Buffalo conflict, you should prefer Rio Tinto, because it is a Supreme Court case.

On that final point, I agree with him.  To the extent that you find that Rio Tinto and Standing Buffalo conflict, then you should prefer Rio Tinto.

But, in my view, they don't conflict, because they're not dealing with the same issue and they don't address the same question.

Perhaps the best place to go -- I think it is about, if I could just pull it up -- yes, paragraph 42 and 44 of Rio Tinto.  Again, that is tab 3, Mr. Janes' book of authorities.

What Mr. Janes has suggested to you is that, in this case, the Crown conduct that he is talking about is the Board's decision.  That is the Crown conduct as he has identified it.  He cites Rio Tinto in support of that as saying that this supports his view on that.

So let's look at what Rio Tinto says.  If you look at paragraph 42 of Rio Tinto, it starts -- there is a header, "Crown conduct or decision".  It says:
"Second, for a duty to consult to arise, there must be Crown conduct or a Crown decision that engages a potential Aboriginal right."


So then if you skip down to paragraph 44, it discusses what these Crown decisions or Crown activity might look at.  He quite rightly points out:
"Further, government action is not confined to decisions or conduct which have an immediate impact on lands and resources."


It extends to strategic, higher-level decisions that may have an impact on Aboriginal claims or right.  And then the Court lists a number of examples of the types of things that constitute Crown conduct.  You will note that conspicuous by its absence is any reference to a decision of a tribunal amounting to Crown conduct in that regard.

I think the closest you get is probably the Dene Tha' decision, but, of course -- and I believe that case is provided.  Let me see.  I think it is in my friend's materials.  Yes, it's tab 11.  You might want to skip very quickly there.

You could look to the head note, frankly, is probably sufficient for my purposes.  The action in question, if you will see at the top of page 3, this is the head note which describes the decision.  It says specifically:
"The Dene Tha' identified as the moment of the breach as its exclusion from discussions and decisions regarding the design of the regulatory environmental review process related to the MGP."


Which was the project.  The activity in question was not the NEB decision or the NEB's role.  It was prior to this process getting started, a number of Crown agencies had sat down together, I think with the proponent, to discuss how best this could be dealt with from a regulatory point of view.

That is where the consultation was or should have been.  That was the Crown act.  It wasn't the NEB's decision or anything of that nature.

So my submission here is that Rio Tinto doesn't say anything about this.  It is not talking about cases where there is a private proponent and there is not -- it is not a Crown decision maker.  The only Crown decision maker here, at least in Mr. Janes' view - and I tend to support him on this, though, and I will follow up with Mr. Major in a point - is the Board's decision, and Rio Tinto doesn't talk about that.

Again, not to repeat myself, there is only one case that discusses this that I have seen.  The only case that deals directly with this issue is Standing Buffalo.  The fact situations are almost identical.  That is, in my view, the state of the law on this issue.

Again, to recap, what it says is the Board doesn't have to go through the Haida analysis on that type of case, although it does have to ensure its decision doesn't conflict with section 35.  Again, I have put all of that before you.  I won't repeat it.

I am conscious of the time, Madam Chair, so perhaps I will turn quickly to some of Mr. Major's points.

First, I do observe it is not clear that -- not that there is any requirement for them to do so -- I was just observing that there seems to be disagreement amongst the parties representing the Aboriginal groups on some of these issues.  Frankly, I don't think much turns on that, but it does go to show these are complicated issues that are not completely resolved by the Rio Tinto decision.  I am not sure any two parties in this room have the same position on all issues.

Quickly turning to Mr. Major, he takes issue with Staff's contention that the Board's hearing process is a good fit for many of the issues that are likely to arise here.

I actually think he is partially right on that.  To the extent there are issues relating to land claims, the Board's process is not a good fit for that.  I don't think anyone would dispute that.  We have no authority to fix that.  We have no clear authority to even look at that in a meaningful sense.

But I would take you back to -- in fact, you can probably look at the Staff prefiled submission.  We quote the Brokenhead decision, which deals with this issue.  There the Court recognized that...

It will take me a moment to find it, I'm sure.  Yes, here we go.  If you look at page 9 of the Staff's submission, I am quoting from Brokenhead.  It says:
"These regulatory processes [i.e. the NEB's hearing] appear not to be designed, however, to address the larger issues of unresolved land claims. As already noted in these reasons, the NEB and the corporate respondents have acknowledged that obvious limitation."


Then it goes on to suggest that the courts are in fact the place to deal with those types of issues.  It is not something that lies easily with the Board or that the Board can consider in any meaningful way.

So I partially agree with my friend on that point, that we couldn't fix anything to do with an underlying land claim.  But my view is that the courts would be the appropriate home for those discussions.

With respect to the underlying Aboriginal rights relating to hunting, trapping, harvesting, et cetera, these in many ways are exactly the types of things that are looked through in the Board's ordinary hearing process, the environmental guidelines.  And the Board has every power to make decisions that would alleviate, minimize or eliminate any possible adverse impacts, up to and including rejecting the application and saying:  You can't go forward.

So in my mind, the Board does have all of the powers necessary there to address those types of issues.

He suggested Sparrow has been overturned.  I disagree with that for the reasons I have already stated.

There was one thing, and I do want to be fair to my friends.  It is not my role as Board Counsel to stand up here and stick to my guns, no matter what I hear from the other parties.

So if there is one thing I heard from Mr. Major that did give me some pause, it is when he pointed out -– and again, this is clear from the application, but this project runs pretty much its entire length under a road allowance.

That road allowance, to put the pipeline there, they do require approval at the MTO.

I confess I am not actually certain what process is undertaken in that regard.  I haven't looked at those, and I don't know if it is a rubberstamp-type permit or if it something more -- something more thorough than that.

But he does raise a good point, and I think it is -- it does something to distinguish the Standing Buffalo case.  In that case, it was all, pretty much all private land.  I have to think there were road crossings or river crossings or what have you; it was a very lengthy pipeline.  But it was mostly farm land, as I understand.

Here, the government may have a closer connection to the project than existed in Standing Buffalo.  So I do want to be fair to my friends, and I think that is a decent point for him to have made.

If I could just have one moment, Madam Chair, I don't want to miss anything, but I think I am nearly done.

Thank you, Madam Chair.  Subject to any questions you have, those are my submissions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  I do have one question.

Dr. McIvor looked to Haida, paragraph 75 and 76, to make the point that consultation can't be -- it can't be future consultation in the act of obtaining permits at a later stage.

Do you agree with that interpretation?

MR. MILLAR:  I would just like to pull up the passages, if I could.  So that is tab 9, I believe.

MS. HARE:  If I wrote it down correctly, I believe that Dr. McIvor talked about Haida, paragraph 75 and 76.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and if I understood his point, I think it was that it is not open to the Board to say:  Oh, someone else is going to deal with that.

MS. HARE:  Well, I was really thinking about whether or not the Board is able to condition any type of approval because permits will be obtained in the future.

I understood Dr. McIvor to say that the law is clear on that point, saying no.

MR. MILLAR:  He took you to the correct passage in Haida.  In Haida, a similar issue -- that exact issue, in fact, arose, that one of the parties argued that you needed more than the licence.  You needed -- I forget -- an additional permit after the licence, to actually go and cut the trees.  And the Supreme Court disagreed with that and said:  No, no, you can't keep pushing it off forever.  The buck is going to stop here, essentially.

So for the limited purpose of that situation, I think he is correct.  Where I might disagree with him -- and it would depend on the fact situations -- is there would be some cases where -- maybe I will give a concrete example.

You have seen from my response to Issue No. 2 that I think you should be looking at the pipeline itself and not the gold mine.  One of the arguments I raise is that, well, in addition to all sort of other reasons, before the gold mine expands, presumably additional approvals and whatnot are required.

In my view, that's one or two steps removed from what they're talking about in Haida here.  Haida, they were talking about a tree licence, and then after the licence, you get an actual permit to cut the trees.

So I think depending on how distinct the approvals are, Haida may not apply.

Again, I would say that -- because it wouldn't make any sense.  There are innumerable possible developments that could, in some -- someday attach to this pipeline.  We don't even know what most of them are.

Even expansion at the mine is purely speculative.  There is nothing on the record, at least to this stage, that it is an expansion.  I understood it was simply to reduce energy costs.

So in my view, the further separated you get between the two approvals, the less this Haida case would apply.  So that would be my submission on that point.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

The Board will now take its lunch break, and if we could just take a little less than an hour, returning at 1:45.

Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:49 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:50 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

I understand, Mr. Blue, you are going next with your submissions?

MR. BLUE:  We are, but Mr. Burden is going to start off, and then I will complete the argument.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Burden:

MR. BURDEN:  Thank you.  The points that I am going to focus on are -- and they're obviously related to the questions.  I won't try to take you through each, but the questions that I am attempting to deal with -- and I start with, if consultation was engaged in this particular circumstance, if it was the duty of the Crown to consult.

If it was engaged, then we say it is clear it was at the low he had of the spectrum, and I will take you to the Haida test on that, and that's because of the minimal impact that this will have, and some of the other background facts, that was satisfied in this particular case.  That's the first point.

With respect to the Board's jurisdiction to review the adequacy of the consultation, it is pretty clear, and I think we are all in agreement that -- I haven't heard anyone say -- well, we've heard one of the parties say something different, but that Rio Tinto was clear that you had three possibilities.

You could engage yourselves, the Board, in consultation.  I think the answer to that was pointed out earlier by Board counsel that that is just fraught with problems on the quasi-judicial nature of the decision-making process that you are involved in.  That would be a morass, a quagmire, and I say it is just a wrong interpretation of the statute.  So you wouldn't.  But that is a possibility under Rio Tinto.

Then do you have the power to review the adequacy of the consultation herein, is the second part of the Rio Tinto, and we say -- Goldcorp says, yes, as an intervenor in that.  I say that relating to the first point, when you do look at it, when you do go through it, you will see that it was at -- the duty to consult was at the very low end of the spectrum, given all of the background circumstances, and was satisfied in this particular case on the evidentiary record that is before you today.

The scope of the review is the final point that I will be dealing with.  The scope of the review, this is really where we're apart and we fundamentally differ with our friends, and that is that we say it is limited -- that your jurisdiction is limited to the direct effects, not the indirect effects.

In other words, your jurisdiction is to review the adequacy of the consultation in the context of this leave to construct application.  It isn't at large, as Mr. Janes would suggest.  By throwing in direct and indirect, he, again, would be creating something in the statute that is not there.

The jurisdiction is limited to the adequacy of the consultation in the context of this particular leave to construct application.  We say that is the direct effects.  That is what this Board has the ability to do, the expertise to do, and that is to mitigate any problems, any adverse effects on Aboriginal property, treaty rights or rights generally that arise out of that situation.

You do not go on to consider, for example, in the question you have asked, if there was an expansion of the mine down in the field, you wouldn't be here to consider that issue, nor would you have the remedial powers to deal with that.  The statute, if you read the statute -- and Mr. Blue will be dealing with the jurisdiction under the statute more fully, but, again, that would not be something that you would have the remedial powers to deal with, an expansion of the mine.

That would be under the Mining Act, and it would engage further opportunities for consultation by the Aboriginal groups at that time, its own particular course of consultation.

Similarly, with an expansion of the town, again, one of the indirect effects that you list in your questions, I say, again, it is clearly that that would be under the Planning Act and there would be numerous consultation opportunities.  It would have its own process.

So I say that there has to be a line drawn, and it has to be -- I don't say, for example, that it is an easy one in all cases.  You look at each case and its particular circumstances, but you do not look at indirect effects.  You have to look at the direct effects of the project you are dealing with.

In this case, we say that is satisfied, and it is satisfied under the various things that have been done herein, including the guidelines that your Board creates and that you operate under and you are familiar with and you have spent a lot of time on, and that process was in place.

With respect to the final point, again, as we say, if the indirect effects are not considered here, where are they considered?  Again, I have just answered that.  I say that there is another day, another forum.

And another one of the issues that was brought up was, earlier, about the treaty rights and about the reserve in Bruce.

I can only say, again, you only have to look at that to say the Board isn't here to deal with that type of issue.  That is a Court issue.  That is for another forum.  It isn't as if the Aboriginals are without a right, but you would not be here at the Board, in my respectful submission, based on the jurisdiction they are trying to solve treaty issues relating to a reserve and whether they have the right to reserve and how that claim -- that claim is launched in court and that is where it belongs.

That, again, is an indirect effect that could potentially be there that you would not be dealing with.  It is divided in your demarcation line.

If we go back to the issue -- and it's been sort of jumped over in this proceeding, and that is the Crown letter, which is attached to the Union submission.  If you have the Union submission, I think you have already had an opportunity to read the letter from Ontario relating to the process that is in place.

You will see that if we talk about what kind of Crown decisions are involved herein, you are locking at various permits that are required from the various government agencies that are part of this process which is in place.

The Board is one part of that process with respect to the pipeline, and then there are a number of permits that have been issued.  And as part of all of that process, there is a consultation that takes place, partly in this forum and partly, obviously, ultimately by the Crown itself in granting the permits.

If you look at page -- the first page of that letter, and I urge you to read it carefully, in the second paragraph, the second full paragraph on that page, "Ontario" -- if you will see four lines down:
"Ontario is engaged with these First Nations directly through contact by its staff, and through continuing oversight of the efforts of the proponent, Union Gas, to which procedural aspects of consultation have been delegated, chiefly within the framework set out by the 'Environmental Guidelines for the Location, Construction and Operation of Hydrocarbon Pipelines and Facilities in Ontario'".


Again, those guidelines, as you are well aware, set out requirements for consultation with the Aboriginals and have their own rules that have been set out, including both archeological and other effects.

The permits that are granted are set out below that in the following paragraphs.  The Ministry of Natural Resources, authorizations required for the project include work permits for any watercourse crossings where directional drilling is not possible.

You will see on the next page the Ministry of Transportation is involved in a consultation process through their permit process which is required, and the Ministry of Tourism and Culture's role is to ensure that the archeological work required pursuant to the environmental guidelines is performed.

Then as part of this process, I think the next paragraph is important:
"More broadly, we appreciate that you are aware that the Project is subject to approval by the Ontario Energy Board."

Again, the Crown sets out its view that, again, the environmental guidelines of this Board will be front and centre.  That is the Aboriginal Peoples Consultation section, which is 3.3, and Cultural Heritage Resources, which is section 4.3.4.

Again, dealing with such things, steps that are taken in mitigation.  It has rights of mitigation and -- that have to be set up, and they will have regard to the record before it pertaining to consultation with appropriate Aboriginal communities, and steps taken to address cultural, heritage resources.

So there is a process in place, and those are the permits that are required and the consultation will continue with respect to those permits.

And this Board itself has its own procedure to protect, because, again, I think we have gone a little lightly here.  Mr. Janes and everyone else has stepped lightly over the fact that if his argument were to succeed here, that you don't have a full evidentiary record or an evidentiary record not sufficient to deal with this matter, then it kind of makes a mockery of the process itself.

The Aboriginals chose not to -- and that's a submission I am going to make further in this -- the Aboriginals chose, for whatever reasons, not to participate in that process, although given notice.

And that notice has to mean something, and your process has to mean something.  We can't -- we can't just deviate here and there.  And you have to look at it.

If Mr. Janes is right, then it means that you have a new rule that, in effect, someone can show up late in the process, file material -- which I would call material of the most -- you know, it is so limited, and he himself says it is limited because there is going to be this other hearing.  We are now going to force you to call another oral hearing, where we are going to have all kinds of evidence and we are going to go on on some kind of trial of an issue, a very – a very -- what I would call a morass.  It is not clearly defined what he is asking you to do, but to set up some type of hearing, a trial that would go on for how long, and what are the issues and what are the pleadings?

You have a process.  You have established your process, and the process is a very understandable process, your guidelines.  Your guidelines set out for consultation, set out a process for consultation with the Aboriginals, and they have engaged and Union has engaged in that and has its environmental report, which is before you, the environmental report.

And they set out the impacts.  They set out what their discussions are, the impacts and how they are attempting to mitigate those impacts.

You have a record of what attempts have been made for consultation.

I say to you that there is a record before you on which you can deal and must deal with this particular leave-to-construct.  And I say that because to do otherwise is to make, in my respectful opinion -- and I say it without any type of emotion –- is it makes a mockery of your process, to allow someone to come here late, after the evidentiary record has been created on a basis of people playing by the rules and dealing with that and facing tight timelines themselves, in terms of getting a project done.  And suddenly someone shows up and says:  By the way...

And your own process, your own guidelines provide for that consultation.  They provide the ability to consult.

I will take you in a minute to the Brokenhead case, which I think is a strong proponent, a very strong statement of what is required here, and that is participation, that the Aboriginals had their time to participate.

If you look at the record, what is uncontested, this is on treaty lands.  This is not a BC-type case, where in that province, most of the land is still subject to land claims of the Aboriginals.  It is not just -- you know, there are existing treaties.  That is what makes BC case law a little bit -- although informative, a little bit suspect in terms of the issues.

Here in Ontario, we have treaty.  This is -- obviously many treaties, and this area is covered by a treaty, right?

Again, the requirement for consultation in those particular circumstances is reduced and is at the lower level.  I will take you to that in just a second.

In addition, most of this is on a right of way, a highway right of way.  It is within that right of way that is already been granted.  The whole idea of the environmental report, if you read it, is that obviously there was a previous disturbance in dealing with that highway.

But that past effect isn't -- you are not dealing with that today.  You have the particular project today that what Union is attempting to do or has done in choosing the route that it has chosen with respect to this project is to run it through that route.

They had three different types of routes they could have chosen.  They chose the one where there had been a disturbance already, so that on this particular occasion, you can say it is primarily within that right of way.  It is already existing land that is taken up under the treaty.  It's been taken up and used.  And one of the rights under the treaty would be able to use that as a highway.

So you are not, on this particular -- in this particular leave-to-construct application, you are now dealing with a pipeline that runs along that same highway.

I say again, that would lead to the conclusion it is a minimal -- it is a minimal duty to consult.

Finally, as I mentioned, you already have your own process in place, and that is your guidelines, which deal with that.

Finally, there is not really before you the kind of -- two things, I would say.

The Aboriginal groups come today before you without filing an affidavit, without setting out in great detail -- I am not trying to turn this into a court process, but you would have expected to see some detailed history of what the claims really are, and in terms of some particularity.  You would have expected to see that, given the lateness of the day, in terms of the approach.

You would also expect to see some reason for the delay.  You would expect to see something justifying you allowing this whole thing to go any further.  In other words, if somebody is saying to you not only do we want to delay the project by having now a hearing on what our rights are, on a theoretical basis, which is a perfectly proper -- but they want to go further and say:  No, let's turn it in -– let's have a trial of an issue, then, because we are now here.  We've got -- we've raised some prima facie issues that we think we should now throw it out, when they had already the opportunity to participate fully in the earlier process.

There's nothing here before you telling us why, from anyone, telling us, setting out in the type of convincing, cogent evidence that one would expect when you are asking for a liberty, you are asking for some special favour here.  And that is, let's forget about what's been done to date.  Let's reopen everything, and let's have a trial of an issue.

And I say that can't be right.  That can't be fair, in the circumstances.

So if we look at the Haida case, just dropping back to the test, I do want to refer you... yes, this test in Haida, with respect to -- it is at tab 2 of our brief of authorities.  We didn't reproduce the whole case, but we set out the -- if you look at page 531 in the middle under (d), it should be highlighted in the brief you have.

I hope our briefs are filed.

MS. HARE:  Yes, they are.  I'm sorry, which tab did you say?

MR. BURDEN:  It is tab 2.  So at page 531 under (d), and I am not going to read you a lot of law, obviously, but the scope of the content of the duty to consult and accommodate is set out there:

"In general terms... it may be asserted that the scope of the duty is proportionate to a preliminary assessment of the strength of the case supporting the existence of the right or title, and to the seriousness of the potential adverse effect..."

Which we say is minimal because of the steps being taken by the proponent, by the Crown, under the guidelines, and specifically outlined in the environmental report.

Now, if you turn to the next page, 532, you will see on paragraph 43, the bottom:

"Against this background, I turn to the kind of duties that may arise in different situations.  In this respect, the concept..."

And I think this is an important paragraph.

"...the concept of a spectrum may be helpful, not to suggest watertight legal compartments but rather to indicate what the honour of the Crown may require in particular circumstances.  At one end of the spectrum lie cases where the claim to title is weak, the Aboriginal right limited..."

That is again treaty lands in this particular case here in Ontario as opposed to BC, and there are certain lands that have been taken up.  There is already a highway there.  This is primarily within a right of way target.


It goes on to say
"...or the potential for infringement minor."


Again, I am not trying to make light of it.  I am certainly not trying to make light of it, but what we are saying is it is minor.  On the evidentiary record before this Board, you have a pipeline and you have a highway, and it now runs along that highway.

In the ER report, in the environmental protection report, environmental report required under the guidelines, the mitigation efforts are outlined to attempt to minimize the effect.

It says, if you go on:
"In such cases, the only duty on the Crown may be to give notice, disclose information and discuss any issues raised in response to the notice."


That's what we say happened here.  The notice went out.  There has been a consultation that took place in spite of the Aboriginals' reluctance to engage in that process, and that process is outlined in the sense of what the ER report and what steps are being taken, et cetera.

They had the opportunity, and I will take you again to the Brokenhead case.  Then if you look down, again, I know you have read the Haida case, the relevant parts of it at least.

At the other end of the spectrum lie cases where a strong prima facie case of the claim is established, and the consultation there may be -- you know, obviously require accommodation and compensation.

We are not there in this case on the evidentiary record that is before this Board.

If we then look at -- if we can go to our submission which is at page -- just so you have the references, if you look at our submission, which is at page 4 of our submissions, the paragraphs that I referred to here or just given you a reference to are set out starting about halfway down just under the quote starting with "Scope of the required consultation will vary..."

That, again, is really just a representation of the Haida situation but, again, emphasizing we are at the low end and that notice, in and of itself, with the consultation may be sufficient.

It says that:
"With respect to lands taken up under Treaty and granted by the Province, such as the land which is in issue in this case, the prima facie level of consultation is at the low end of the spectrum..."

Again, that is the Beckman case.  I won't take you to the Beckman case, but we can look that up, the paragraphs, and we will give you the cite, but it is the Beckman case that refers to it.  It may be limited to impacts on the adjacent land, if any, and matters of archeological or sacred site concern.

That again is what the ER report, the environmental report of Union, is trying to deal with, which it is preparing under the guidelines, and we say those impacts are being mitigated under that process, which is before this Board and the evidentiary record is there.

We say we satisfied it by any consultation in this -- at the low end by that notice and by that process; that is, Union did, with the Crown.

If we look at page 5 of our submissions -- maybe I don't have the right mark, and I apologize.

Yes.  I'm sorry, it is at the top of that page, page 5 of our submission, third line down, "Aboriginal groups" -- sorry, the ER process up above says:
"This afforded and extended to First Nations the opportunity to participate in the application proceeding, to advise of any concerns, and to proffer any relevant information they may have. Aboriginal groups have a reciprocal duty at all times to engage in the consultation process in good faith, to make their concerns known, to respond to the attempts by the Crown and/or the proponent to meet their concerns..."


Again, it is reciprocal.  It is not a situation -- you have to weigh that.  The Board has to weigh that when they're looking at.  If they're measuring the adequacy of the consultation here, knowing it is at the low end and knowing notice was given and knowing there is a process in place, a process which everyone is familiar with - the guidelines outline it - that is your opportunity to participate.

We now have an application at the eleventh hour saying, Let's do something else.  Let's forget about that and let's go to a trial of an issue, et cetera, again, everybody understanding the realities of the situation where there is a tight timeline here and on the project itself.

If you look at next the case I wanted to take you to, it is the Brokenhead case which Board counsel referred to.  That is at tab 5 of our authorities.

MS. HARE:  Excuse me one minute.  We should give this an exhibit number, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think we are at K1.3, and that would be Goldcorp's book of authorities.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  GOLDCORP'S BOOK OF AUTHORITIES.

MR. BURDEN:  If you start at that case in the Federal Court, Justice Barnes, and if you look at page -- starting at page 15 of the decision, three from the end.

MS. HARE:  Mm-hm.

MR. BURDEN:  I am not going to spend a lot of time on it, but at paragraph 39 of that decision, it sets out and it deals with the Mikisew case from the Supreme Court of Canada.  It talks about the Crown has a treaty right to take up surrendered lands for regional transportation purposes.  Again, this is dealing with treaty rights as opposed to original land claims without a treaty situation.  So you are already usually at the low end of the spectrum in terms of the impact.

It says about five sentences down:
"This does not mean that whenever a government proposes to do anything in the Treaty 8 surrendered lands it must consult with all signatory First Nations, no matter how remote or unsubstantial the impact.  The duty to consult is, as stated in Haida Nation, triggered at a low threshold, but adverse impact is a matter of degree..."


Again it goes on to say you have to consider that.

Then it says at the next page:
"Even though the project considered in Mikisew..."

And I don't know whether I'm pronouncing it correctly:
"...involved direct and immediate interference with identified Aboriginal interests, the Court said that the Crown's consultation duty was at the lower end of the spectrum requiring notice..."

That is done here through the guidelines.  It is a careful concern.

More importantly, page 16, and I think this gets it on the head what we're dealing with here in this last-minute address to this body, this last request.

"I am satisfied", and this is paragraph 42:
"...I am satisfied that the process of consultation and accommodation employed by the NEB was sufficient to address the specific concerns of Aboriginal communities potentially affected by the Pipeline Projects including the Treaty One First Nations. The fact that the Treaty One First Nations may not have availed themselves fully of the opportunity to be heard before the NEB does not justify the demand for a separate or discrete consultation with the Crown."


And that is what is being asked for here, is we're really asking, Let's start another stage of consultation here even though we've already had a process in place where the Board has had evidence filed and has a process in place under the guidelines with respect to Aboriginal consultation.  That is really what is happening here.

The fact that the -- sorry:
"To the extent that regulatory procedures are readily accessible to Aboriginal communities to address their concerns about development projects like these, there is a responsibility to use them.  First Nations cannot complain about a failure by the Crown to consult when they have failed to avail themselves of reasonable avenues for seeking relief.  That is so because the consultation process is reciprocal and cannot be frustrated by the refusal of either party to meet or participate."


If you look at the conclusion on that page, paragraph 45, it says:
"The consultation duty --"
I think it is just informative what was going on here.
"The consultation duty owed by the Crown to the Treaty One First Nations has been met.  This is not to say that the Treaty One First Nations do not have a credible land claim."

Again, we are not here and I submit that the Board is not here in this process to decide whether there is a reserve in Bruce that should be, you know -- that they have a right to.  That is not the type of thing the Board would be deciding here.  That is for a court.

But they do say:

"The pipeline projects have been built almost completely over existing rights-of-way and on privately owned and actively utilized land not now likely in the future to be available for a land claim settlement."

And I just say it has -- each case, I appreciate each case is dependent on its own facts, but the statements there in terms of the background and the approach, I say are relevant to this particular situation.

In addition, the Taku decision, which is at tab 3 of our authorities, if you look at page 563, I am not going to take you through all the background, other than to say the Court said:

"On the principles discussed in Haida..."

And this is the Supreme Court of Canada.
"On the principles discussed in Haida, these facts mean that the honour of the Crown placed the Province under a duty to consult with the TRTFN in making the decision to reopen..."

And again, I apologize if I am not pronouncing...
"...the Tulsequah Chief Mine. In this case, the process engaged in by the Province under the Environmental Assessment Act fulfilled the requirements of its duty."

In other words, there can be a situation.  If you combine the Brokenhead decision with this decision, if there is a process in place -- which you have here under your guidelines and with the application of the Board, the guidelines and the right to consult under that, the duties that are outlined therein and the protections that are outlined therein, if you have that process and they can participate in it, that can be part of satisfying the duty to consult, especially when it is at a low threshold, which it is this particular case.

You can take it from Haida that this is a low threshold case, on the evidentiary record that is before you.

With respect to the issue of the jurisdiction before the Board, I went over that in the opening points I was going to make.  Mr. Blue will deal with that more fulsomely, and I simply say that in my view, in our view, as set out in our submissions, you have the jurisdiction to review the adequacy of the consultation in the context of - and I stress these words - in the context of the particular LTC application before you.  That is where it is limited.

When you look at Rio Tinto, I think we all agree that Rio Tinto is a definite read in these cases, given that it is the most recent, as everyone concedes, Supreme Court of Canada decision.

If you look at tab 4 of ours, paragraph 49, again, they're trying to set some limits, the Supreme Court of Canada, again, appreciating that each case is dependent on its own facts, but the basic principles provide, paragraph 49, page 675:

"The question is whether there is a claim or right that potentially may be adversely impacted by the current government conduct or decision in question.  Prior and continuing breaches, including prior failures to consult, will only trigger a duty to consult if the present decision has the potential of causing a novel adverse impact on a present claim or existing right."

Again, you are looking at present claims.  You are looking at this leave-to-construct application.  You are not looking at the history, the prior history, even though it is relevant to the fact it was a highway and that part of minimizing the -- any kind of disruption or disturbance is to follow that same highway and within that right-of-way.

But if you then look at paragraph 53, and I say this again sets limits on the jurisdiction of the Board, and it is to be followed.  It says in paragraph 53, the second full sentence:

"It confines the duty to consult to adverse impacts flowing from the specific Crown proposal at issue — not to larger adverse impacts of the project of which it is a part.  The subject of the consultation is the impact on the claimed rights of the current decision under consideration."

That is what your environmental report deals with.  That is what the consultation process deals with.  What are the impacts now?  And the groups had an opportunity to participate.

If you then look at the key issue, which is that really, at the end, is -- what is the scope of the review?

And I started with it and I will say it still is a critical issue, but it is clear that in our view, that you don't look at the indirect effects.  You look at the direct effects of the particular project that you are facing in front of you.

You don't have remedial powers with respect -- the Board doesn't have remedial powers with respect to the Planning Act issues or expansion of the town or Mining Act applications.  You don't deal with that.

What you deal with are the pipeline and the effect that it will have, the direct impact it will have.

There are other processes, other permits, other consultations which will take place, and to the extent that those aren't satisfactory, there is a court process.

But your mandate, your jurisdiction is to deal with the -- within the context of the particular application that is before you and its direct impacts, is my respectful submission.

I say that even though you have the broadest powers under section 19 and section 96, there are limits.  And as anyone -- and the section you heard referred to earlier that it was said over and over again about remedial powers, there was a quote to you -- and I will try to find that for you or give it to you.

If you look at paragraph 61, which was read to you earlier this morning, it sets out some of those limits:

"A tribunal that has the power to consider the adequacy of consultation, but does not itself have the power to enter into consultation..."

Which of course, we say -- I say you are at.
"...should provide whatever relief it considers appropriate in the circumstances in accordance with the remedial powers expressly or impliedly conferred on it by statute."

I say that remedial powers doesn't include, certainly, the power to deal with an expansion of a town or an expansion of a mine.  Those aren't things that you have remedial powers over.  It sets limits on your jurisdiction.  I know that is kind of a self-evident statement, but that is the limits on your jurisdiction, and you deal with it in the context.

And you have spent the time, the Board has spent the time developing these guidelines that everyone is familiar with and everyone operates under, under the specific applications that are before the Board.

And they should be enforced, in my respectful submission.  They should be looked to and enforced, and everyone is familiar with them and there is no excuse for not being involved in that process, again, in my opinion.

Again, I won't -- I will say one more time.  It's -- your jurisdiction is limited to that.

And then finally, it is to the specific project that is before you.  Again, it doesn't mean that there is -- somebody is without a right.  It doesn't mean the Aboriginals are left without a right if this moves forward.

The permits have to be granted.  The Crown has stated in its letter -- if we read the letter, it is very clear -- the consultation process continues.

The second thing is there are other forums.  If he is worried about the expansion of the town, the town isn't going to be expanded without planning processes, proper planning processes, in another forum at another date with consultation issues.

Again, same thing with mining.  If the mine is expanded, the Mining Act brings up consultation issues at their various stages of the procedure, which have to be dealt with.

In summary, then, I guess I can say that, again, I am just repeating that because of the minimal impact, it is at the low level, the consultation required.  I say consultation is required.  The Aboriginal -- your guidelines implicitly or explicitly require consultation.

The process, the notice of hearing, the ER process under the guidelines is sufficient to satisfy in these circumstances that process has been engaged.  There is no concrete -- or particulars of the types of claims that should have been made by the Aboriginals at this time.

They haven't provided concrete specifics.  It is late in the game.  It was incumbent upon them to do that if they were here seeking relief from a process that would have provided them with that.

And, again, the review is limited to the direct effects under the specific -- of the specific project at hand.  I finish just by -- before I turn it over to Mr. Blue, by saying it does -- again, the record is sufficient here, again, in my opinion, for you to make your decision on the merits.  And we are in a situation where every opportunity, as under the Brokenhead decision, and under Taku the Supreme Court of Canada says they have an opportunity.  They should avail themselves of it.  It was there.  It existed.  There is a record before you on which you can see the minimal impacts and move it forward.

You can also, by granting the leave to construct, be confident of the view that there are other processes and other days that have to occur in any event under this.

Those are my submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Blue, will you be addressing a different area?  My question to you is because -- whether it would be better to ask Mr. Burden questions now or wait until after your submission.  I do have a few questions, but...

MR. BLUE:  I am comfortable whatever you want to do.
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  Well, then I would like to ask my questions.

The Haida case that you took us to, paragraph 43 --


MR. BURDEN:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  -- talks about the Crown's duty to consult.

In this particular project, I think there is no question that Union attempted to consult.

MR. BURDEN:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  But it talks about the Crown's duty to consult.

MR. BURDEN:  Correct.

MS. HARE:  Who, in your opinion, is the Crown in this case?

MR. BURDEN:  The Crown is as set out in the letter.  The Crown sets out who the parties are, and that is the Minister of Natural -- Ministry of Natural Resources, the various agencies involved in the process of approving ultimately getting this project approved.  They're part of that process.

Your part, as they say in the letter, it comes to this Board for the ultimate leave to construct the pipeline, but part of that process in itself is your guidelines and your consultation.

They say in that letter, as I read to you, that they have delegated that aspect of it certain procedures, delegated procedural aspects to it, but under the guidelines that is being carried on by the proponent.

MS. HARE:  So was Goldcorp involved in any of those?  Because if you weren't, then I will save my questions for Union Gas.


MR. BLUE:  Goldcorp was not involved.

MS. HARE:  Okay, fine.  Thank you.

Then I would turn to your page 5 of your submission where you point out that there will be other opportunities for consultation in the granting of permits, but we had the discussion this morning, looking at the Haida case and paragraph 75 and 76, which said that, no, that is not good enough to put that off to a later stage.

So can you give me your views on that issue?

MR. BURDEN:  I assure you I am not trying to duck it.  This was part specifically of Mr. Blue, and I know that Mr. Isaac wanted to address that issue, as well.  So I won't waste -- I will not waste your time.  I will not take up your time.

MS. HARE:  That's fine.  Ms. Conboy, do you have anything?

MS. CONBOY:  No.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Blue, do you have anything?
Submissions by Mr. Blue:

MR. BLUE:  Madam Chair and Ms. Conboy, the first point I want to deal with is the suggestion by Dr. McIvor, and a little bit by Mr. Janes, that the Board is somehow the Crown.

I do have a difficulty in that section 6(1) of the OEB Act makes the Board a Crown agent, but there is a good reason for that, and you find that in the statute itself.

When the OEB Act, 1998 was enacted in 1998 for the first time, the Legislature provided the minister to give policy directive to the Board under subsection 27(1).

The problem with that was when the lawyers looked at it - and I was one at the time who was involved in drafting of this statute - the argument was made that the Board was an independent administrative tribunal, a court, and if the minister gave directives without saying the Board had to abide by them or even if they did say, the Board was in no way bound to follow them.

By adding in section 6(1) and making the Board a Crown agent, the Board would be bound by those directives.  That was the purpose behind section 6(1).  It was to reconcile the ability of the minister to give directions with its well-known function and historical function as an independent administrative tribunal.

DR. McIVOR:  I didn't realize this was going to be an opportunity for counsel to give evidence as far as to the Legislature's intent.  That seems to be what we're getting into here.  If my friend has something in the record to point to, I think that would be helpful.

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  I rely on the relationship between subsection 6(1) and section 27(1), the well-known law that government tribunals are not bound to follow government directions if it is not a Crown agent.

We have that problem with arbitrations in this province when the government gives directions about pay limits and arbitrators ignore them.

My second point is that I agree with everyone the key provision, the key passage in the Rio Tinto case for this Board in this case, is paragraph 61.

What it says, again, is that:
"A tribunal that has the power to consider the adequacy of consultation, but does not itself have the power to enter into consultations, should provide whatever relief it considers appropriate in the circumstances, in accordance with the remedial powers expressly or impliedly conferred upon it by statute."


So in Rio Tinto, the Supreme Court of Canada is saying to all boards, including this Board, Look at what your statute allows you to do.  We are not asking you to bend your statute out of shape.  We are not asking you to bend your processes out of shape, but do what you can under your statute.

So I go to our submission under question 2, and I have pointed out to you that the Supreme Court of Canada has recently, in another case involving First Nations, R. v. Kapp, told us how we should look at what the Board may be asked to do.

What we are told is that we have to look at, firstly, the wording; secondly, the legislative history; thirdly, the scheme of the act; and, fourth, the legislative context to determine the Board's powers.

I have gone through that analysis in our submission, but with respect to the wording, I have provided you three decisions, the Union Gas versus TransCanada case in 1974, the older Canada Steamship Lines versus Barnes in 1945 and the Supreme Court of Canada decision in Memorial Gardens, which look at the type of legislation you operate under in section 96.

And what the court held in those cases is that the Legislature has delegated to boards the broadest discretion with respect to determining what is and what is not required by the public interest.

You may be reviewed if you say, I can't look at something.  You will never be reviewed if you say, we considered that a relevant factor to our analysis under these cases.

These cases were decided on statutory provisions that related to the public convenience and necessity.  Well, you must make that decision under section 8 of the Municipal Franchises Act.  That is your test.

These are the cases that apply to it.  But my submission is they're equally applicable to your authority to decide something in the public interest.

Within your jurisdiction, you are, as Shakespeare said, kings of infinite space -- sorry, queens of infinite space.

[Laughter]

MR. BLUE:  You can make those decisions based on your perception of what is in the public interest.

When I look at the legislative history, we see, as I pointed out, that this provision in the Ontario Energy Board Act goes back to 1964, but it really goes back in Canada to the Railway Act in 1897.

You can find it, as the Supreme Court of Canada said in the Memorial Garden case, in numerous statutory provisions of tribunals trying to decide whether particular projects should go forward in the public interest.

But in 1975 in this province, we enacted the Environmental Assessment Act, and the government was under pressure to make gas pipeline companies subject to an environmental assessment and an environmental assessment hearing.

That was worked out administratively between the gas industry and the government and this Board, by creating the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee.  That has operated, in my experience, since the 1980s.  Mr. McKay, who is sitting in the Board Staff, used to chair it.

And the Board has developed the guidelines, the environmental guidelines for the location and construction and operation of hydrocarbon pipelines and facilities.

We are now at the sixth edition, but these have been out since the committee started to operate.  These are the rules under which, everybody who practices before this Board knows, are applicable to applications for leave-to-construct under the Ontario Energy Board Act.

As has been pointed out to you, the guidelines in this edition deal expressly with Aboriginal peoples consultation.

So that is the legislative history.

What it tells us is that, yes, you have a broad discretion about what you are going to consider in a leave-to-construct company for a hydrocarbon pipeline.  But you have helped the industry, you have helped the public, you have helped First Nations by telling them the type of information that you would require to make a decision in the public interest.  You have said in these guidelines you expect them to be followed.

That is part of the law of building pipelines in Ontario.

Now, in the scheme of the act, I'm sorry, nobody has mentioned it except me, but section 2 of the act is a constraint on your broad discretion under section 96(1). And what the act says, the relevant -- the Board says:

“...in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other Act in relation to gas, shall be guided by the following objectives...

And I don't want to read them all, but I want to focus:

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service."

Now, the Legislature, in section 96(2), has repeated those and said, when you are exercising your section 96 jurisdiction for a transmission line, those are the only factors you can consider.

You are nonetheless required -- when you consider a section 96(1) application for a gas pipeline -- to consider those objectives, prices, reliability and quality of gas service.

So I submit if we did not have the Rio Tinto case, prior to last fall your discretion would be wide enough under this act that if you felt that a pipeline was needed to bring gas to a community, to provide for the reliability of service or reasonableness of service, you could approve that unconditionally, even if you made a finding that consultation was not appropriate.

But now because of Rio Tinto, things are different.

So that is the scheme of the act.

But in the legislative context, I made the point, and I think I make it summarily, that ever since the Delgamuukw case, every government, every public body in this country has been well aware of the section 35 of the Constitution Act 1982 and the duty to consult.  And the Ontario government has not been idle; it has imposed that duty to consult in the Environmental Assessment Act, it has imposed it, as Mr. Burden said, in the Mining Act.  I have given you a list of other acts that it has been imposed, but I said it is strange the government has not tried to impose a statutory requirement similar to those provisions in the Ontario Energy Board Act.

Now, clearly, the Legislature could have done that if it had wanted to.  It knows how to write those provisions.

So the reason, I submit, that the only legal conclusion we can draw from that is that your jurisdiction has not been changed by the Legislature.

Okay.  So we come back to paragraph 61 of Rio Tinto, that you have to provide whatever relief you consider appropriate in the circumstances.  Again, it is a subjective test, what you consider appropriate in the circumstances, in accordance with the remedial powers expressly or impliedly conferred by your act.

The goal is to protect Aboriginal rights and interests and to promote the reconciliation of interests called -- but that is not an imperative.  That is only the goal.

So what that -- what -- the conclusion that that leads to is this, that you have a discretion, you have a process that is well known.  The applicant applies in these guidelines.  You have a hearing process that is well known.  You issue a Notice of Application.  You give a Letter of Direction to applicants about who to serve.  People file in accordance with the Notice.  You then have a Hearing Order.  We have a hearing.

It is an orderly process that takes place over three or four months, and it is an orderly way of doing business.

So I submit that under Rio Tinto, under Haida, under any decision that is applicable to Ontario, that your obligation is discharged, as Mr. Burden says, by following your own process.

If First Nations or those who represent them participate in your hearings, you can hear any comments they have about the project, they can be consulted about the project, and then you can make your determination based on the evidence that is before you.

I submit, as Mr. Burden did, that in this case, you have that evidence.  You have the evidence.  You gave a Letter of Direction.  Notice was provided to the First Nations.  They didn't participate.  You make your decision on the record.

As the jurisprudence that both Board counsel have given you and the Brokenhead case Mr. Burden has referred to, the Court has said that it is incumbent upon First Nations groups to follow that process and take advantage of it, and that there is no right to a second overall process.

So my submission is that the scope of your consideration are the considerations that you normally take account in the Environmental Guidelines, and that you follow those.

I submit that paragraph 61 of Rio Tinto means that you are not obligated to do as Mr. Janes suggested you must do, which is sit here in judgment of the Crown's approval for all the permits and other dispensations that are required for the project.

For the reasons Mr. Burden has given, these are other processes, these are other -- these require other decision makers and other granters of rights that have their own processes, including consultation.

Now, with respect to – with respect to -- Mr. Burden just made the point that I made in the final paragraph -- or that we made, rather, in the final paragraph of page 17 -- so I won't repeat it -- about the Mining Act and the Planning Act.

I think we all agree on question number three, so I don't need to go into that.

I wanted to just make one point, because I am very happy to have met Mr. Janes, but Grand Treaty Council Number 3 is here as an intervenor.  We did not have a chance to comment on that before the Board granted intervenor status.  But it is very clear, in the jurisprudence, that Aboriginal rights, whatever they may be, are collective rights and that corporate entities like Grand Council Treaty 3 have no status to be consulted or to claim those rights.

I have given you the authority, and perhaps Board counsel or those reading the transcript, but you can go to it.  But if you go to the Delgamuukw case in British Columbia, paragraph 115, they make the point that their communal rights -- and I have given you the Komoyue Heritage Society case in British Columbia, which was a case where the Komoyue Heritage Society sought to go to court to claim that certain Aboriginal rights had been violated, and they were not allowed to bring that action, because they did not have the requisite status.

In my factum, I have given you a large extract from that on pages 19 and 20, which I ask you to read, but I will not read it to you.

So while I am happy to see Mr. Janes and happy to have met Mr. Janes today, if he comes back again, we may have this point to make in more force.

MR. BURDEN:  Just, finally - I won't take more than three minutes - I think it is informative, and I don't set out more by it, but if you read paragraph 34 of the Lac Seul submissions, it does form some of the backdrop to this hearing, paragraph 34 of that submission, and I just -- I don't try to make more of it than it is, but it is something that does set the background to this particular project and the opportunity to participate, et cetera, in the process.

And that simply says it may be even welcomed by First Nations to some measure.  I leave that to you.

I apologize.  Do you have it?

MS. HARE:  I do have it.  I am not sure I understand the context that you are drawing our attention to.

MR. BURDEN:  I just think it sets out a backdrop to it in terms of, when one writes about complaints about the project, I simply say there is a side to it that Lac Seul itself has admitted is welcomed -- may be welcomed, and I leave that to you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Ms. Conboy, do you have any questions?

MS. CONBOY:  No.  Just a follow-up on a timing issue.  We heard submissions earlier or argument earlier about timing of different approvals of different consultation, that there was to be consultation prior to -- other types of consultation prior to our decision-making process.

I think you said your colleague, Mr. Blue, was going to address that.

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  Again, consistent with my submission that Rio Tinto requires you to follow your own process, consultation began on the part of Union, as I understand it, once they gave notice of the application and sought meetings with Wabauskang First Nations and Lac Seul First Nations, and others.  That was over a year ago.

I think Board counsel has made the point that this approval is the key approval, and the evidence before you, based on Union's environmental protection plan, is that that consultation started as soon as the notice was served.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  But you are not arguing, in terms of question 3, that that duty to consult can be delegated to Union Gas, are you?

MR. BLUE:  My position in question 3 is, yes, it can.

The evidence before you, when I referred to the Crown letter, is that the Crown has been supervising it, and, yes, Union has been doing the procedural aspects of it, consistent with the statements in the Haida Nation and Rio Tinto that the Crown can delegate procedural aspects.

The Crown letter is clear that the Crown is assuming the duty to consult.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Isaac, how long do you think you will be?

MR. ISAAC:  I should need about 50 minutes to an hour.

MS. HARE:  Perhaps we should take our afternoon break, then, for 15 minutes and return at 3:10 so that we are not breaking your submissions.

MR. ISAAC:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:15 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Isaac, we are ready for Union Gas's submissions.

Submissions by Mr. Isaac:

MR. ISAAC:  Thank you.

There were a number of questions posed that I intend on dealing with.

I would like to do it towards the end of my submissions, in terms of this notion of Haida standing for the proposition that one can't push off consultation, and I believe the Chair's question regarding who is the Crown, so I do have some submissions on those points that I will address towards the end of my submissions.

I will be following Procedural Order No. 2, in terms of the three sets of questions set out by the Board, and will be using my written submission as a guideline.

Prior to doing that, I wanted to address one question that had come up earlier regarding the environmental report.

During our lunch break, I was able to confirm from my client that the First Nations represented here today, including Grand Council Treaty 3, received a copy of the environmental report, and I believe they received it on -- or at least it was sent.  I am not sure if actually received on this day, or at least sent on January 21st, 2011.

Likewise -- and this is already in the record -- a Notice of Application was received by, again, the First Nations appearing before you today, including –- well, certainly the First Nations represented here today, the Notice of Application in 2010.

MS. HARE:  Sorry, Mr. Isaac, just on that point, then after, when they didn't send in a letter asking to be intervenors, were they continued to be copied on Procedural Orders?  So for example, did they know when interrogatories were due on the evidence?

MR. ISAAC:  I understand, because status was not requested, they did not receive copies, or at least from Union Gas they did not receive copies of the procedural orders.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. ISAAC:  Thank you.

In terms of context, I mean, it has been referred a couple of times about the project being near Bruce Lake.

To be clear, the project is connecting to a pre-existing facility near Bruce Lake, and as you have already heard -- and again, it is a matter of record.

It is part of the evidence before the Board already, the filed evidence, that the eight-inch pipe will be following along the existing highway corridor, either on the highway corridor or through adjacent private property.  But the vast majority of the pipe will be going through the adjacent highway corridor.

That is material for the reasons that my friend, Mr. Burden, has already run through, and I believe it does set an important part of the context.

The vast majority of consultation cases, certainly of which I am aware, deal with Crown lands, and certainly potential adverse effects on projects that –- and I say the vast majority, not all, but dealing with sort of Greenfields projects over a previously undisturbed area or otherwise, and this is an important context before we begin.

In terms of the first questions that the Board asked - what is the conduct that the Crown has contemplated that has the potential to adversely affect or impact an Aboriginal right or title, and what is the Crown's responsibility with respect to this project, which is being undertaken by a private applicant - we make the following comments.

First of all, Mr. Janes -- I will speak about Mr. Janes' submissions -- at numerous times, both in his written submissions and orally to the Board today, referred to, I believe, at one point, you will recall, at the end of the road, the decision before the leave-to-construct application, that the Board's decision is the final decision.

And that simply is not accurate, in fact.

There are numerous other decisions required for this project that are expressly not before the Board.  And those approvals -- again, Mr. Burden and others have run through some of those approvals -- but we outline that a number of ministries, including the Ministry of Transportation, the Ministry of Natural Resources and the Ministry of Tourism and Culture will be making other decisions relevant and necessary for this project that aren't part of the leave-to-construct and another application before the Board.

And this is material -- and again, I will deal with this a little bit later, but this idea of pushing off consultation.  No one -- certainly Union Gas is not submitting that any consultation that might be required in respect of the leave-to-construct application before the Board ought to be put off.  The case law certainly doesn't stand for that proposition.

Any consultation that might be required in respect of the leave-to-construct application needs to be dealt with during the process associated with the leave-to-construct application.  But no one -- certainly Union Gas isn't suggesting that any consultation associated with that application be put off for some other process.  And that is certainly what was being argued in Haida, and I will take you to that a little bit later.

But the fact is there are Crown approvals that are required for the project that have not yet been rendered, and the Crown letter expressly deals with these processes, and I will touch on that in a moment.  I understand Mr. Burden, obviously, has already gone through it.  There is a few other aspects of that letter I will like to draw your attention to.

It is our submission that whatever duty to consult may be associated with those decisions, the Crown decision maker, as will be appropriate, will make whatever decisions it needs to make in terms of consulting with Aboriginal peoples.

We believe that the Crown has actually answered a large part of that issue in its recent letter of last week, and to which the Board now has a copy.

The notion, as well, that these other decisions are forthcoming, even the Board Staff has contemplated, at least in the draft order, that -- I think it is appendix B, section 5.1 of the draft, that your decision, the Board's decision in this matter, will be subject to other Crown approvals, depending on or obviously subject to the jurisdiction and authority of those Crown decision makers.

So it goes with consultation.  The consultation -- and again, Mr. Burden and others have run through the case law from particularly Rio Tinto, but numerous times, the Court emphasized the use of the word "current".  It italicized that word.  It is the current decision before the Board or before these other decision makers.  And that also, therefore, limits the authority of the Board and the other Crown decision makers to the matters presently before them.

And that is the scope, and that is entirely consistent with Haida, which, again, I will come back to.

Now, in addition to these other -- or these Crown approvals that are forthcoming, the Board's leave-to-construct application itself contemplates an environmental review process, and we have had some discussion about that today.

As part of the leave-to-construct application, the applicant -- in this case, Union -- was required to submit an environmental report, which it did.  And as I noted earlier, copies of that report were sent to the First Nations present here today, before you today, including the Grand Council Treaty 3.

That report is based on your environmental guidelines, the full title of which has already been mentioned at least a few times, and now the sixth edition.  And these guidelines are published by the Board.

Within those guidelines, it is noted that there is a committee, the Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee, and this is -- I am now, again, referring to my written submissions at paragraph 4.

The Ontario Pipeline Coordinating Committee, and this committee has as its mandate to ensure that the interests and concerns of the member agencies are brought to the attention of the applicants.  So this is part of the Crown oversight.

On this particular project, we have a footnote in our written submission that outlines the various ministries that were part of the coordinating committee for the purposes of the application before you.

They include the Technical Standards and Safety Authority, the Ministry of the Environment, Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, Ministry of Transportation, Municipal Affairs and Housing, Ministry of Natural Resources and affected local municipalities.

The environmental report process and guidelines also contain, as you heard earlier, very specific requirements pertaining to Aboriginal consultation.  Union has met those requirements.  And its consultation report to the Board is set out in its prefiled evidence, and, in particular, outlined in terms of some of the chronology that Union underwent in its revised schedule 16 to the prefiled evidence.

An applicant is required under the guidelines to gather and record information pertaining to Aboriginal consultation, including a description of how issues or concerns were heard -- any issues or concerns heard, and how they were dealt with and considered, and, to the extent appropriate, mitigated or accommodated.

So all of this is borne by the applicant, again, in this case Union, with supervision from many -- I will say many Crown ministries and agencies.

While the committee ministries, the coordinating committee ministries, don't actually themselves make a decision, it is our submission that the Board will take the recommendations of that Crown committee into consideration in terms of its -- the Board's consideration, the final decision relating to the leave to construct application.

The Crown is -- now going back to the questions, again, that were specifically posed about the Crown's responsibility:
"The Crown's responsibility is to ensure that where its decisions or actions may affect asserted or established aboriginal or treaty rights, such actions or decisions are carried out by the Crown in a manner consistent with the 'honour of the Crown' ..."


And it is the honour of the Crown that is the legal concept from which the duty to consult arises.  This is clearly laid out in Haida.

And this includes a requirement to ensure that reasonable consultation occurs in terms of any such decisions or actions.  The Crown isn't required to develop specific or special consultation measures when the existing processes will allow for fair and reasonable consultation.

Again, my friend Mr. Burden took you through some of the case law associated with that proposition.

I would ask you to turn to our book of authorities.  It is the one with four tabs, the applicant's book of authorities, at tab 4.

MS. HARE:  So, Mr. Millar, what exhibit number would that be now?

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are at K1.4 now, Madam Chair.  That will be the applicant's book of authorities.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  APPLICANT'S BOOK OF AUTHORITIES.

MR. ISAAC:  So tab 4 of K1.4.

Now, my friend, Mr. Burden, has already walked through part of this letter.  There is a few places that I think are worth noting.  This is an important letter in the sense that the Board asks the question:  What is the Crown's responsibility?  This letter, in some part, touches on that very issue.

Now, on page 1, again, Mr. Burden ran through the second paragraph.  I will note -- and this is -- I just pick up on Mr. Blue's commentary on the Grand Council Treaty 3.  You will see the Crown also comments on the standing of Grand Council Treaty 3 regarding consultation.

I would draw the Board's attention to the Crown's views in that respect, and certainly it would be Union's submissions that we would not disagree with that as a legal proposition, that the Crown's views are, in fact, correct at law.

Putting that aside, though, the Crown runs through, on pages 2 and 3, all of the various decisions.  You will see at page 2, midway through the page, the Crown discusses the Ontario Energy Board process.

And I will suggest to you what this letter demonstrates is the Crown is very much aware of what is happening at large with respect to the project, that it is not simply focussed on any one decision, at least in this letter, but, in fact, it is giving some comfort, or at least it would be our submission that this is comfort to Grand Council Treaty 3, to whom the letter is written, that the Crown is aware of the various processes and decisions at play, given this project, including the Ontario Energy Board process and leave to construct application.

We think that is noteworthy in terms of filling Grand Council Treaty 3 in on what is happening and the Crown's awareness and its oversight in the overall process of ensuring that the honour of the Crown is met.

I would ask you, though, to turn to the bottom of page 4 of the letter.  Here you will see Ontario giving a view.
"Given the past and ongoing efforts at consultation by or on behalf of Ontario touched on above, and the likely very limited direct impact of the Project on Treaty 3 harvesting rights or aboriginal title claims... as a result of the Project being largely confined to existing highway right of ways, we remain confident that the Honour of the Crown has or will be..."


I will stop there.  The "will be" is the future decisions that are coming --

"...will be satisfied in its dealings with specific Treaty 3 First Nations as various provincial decisions are made.  We recognize that your client is concerned with the broader effects of potentially increased economic development... We would suggest that consultation with Treaty 3 First Nations will unfold most productively as specific developments are pursued, with their attendant regulatory approvals."


And then, of course, they go on to state that the consultation needs to be appropriate in terms of the order of magnitude of the decision being made.

I finally note that the letter is signed by representatives for the three different ministries.  Again, I think underscoring I think the sensitivity the Crown has taken, at least I can only speak in respect to the present application, but clearly an informed and coordinated approach by the Crown, and I think that is noteworthy.

I can say one doesn't usually see such a coordinated approach, at least in other jurisdictions, and here we have ample evidence that a coordinated approach by the Crown, taking its responsibilities in the honour of the Crown seriously, and monitoring overall what is happening with respect to this project, again, directly addressing, we would submit, the Board's question of:  What is the Crown's responsibility in this application?

Finally, we would submit that given the nature of the project, I have already discussed the nature of the project in terms of being within existing highway rights of way and on private property.  And the lack of project-specific concerns, as opposed to a general concern, there is a burden to be specific.

And you will see this in the case law, and I will draw your attention to that in a few moments, but the specific concerns to which a reasonable person could give an answer to regarding the project, we have not, Union submits -- and it is in the evidence already, part of the evidence here, that we have not received any specific comments or specific project-related concerns, and our view that the project can have little or no potential adverse effect, given where the project will be situated on already-disturbed existing highway corridors and on private property.

Now, the Board next asked:
"To the extent that there are duty to consult issues associated with the project, what is the scope of the Board's power to review them?  In particular, should the Board's review be limited to potential impacts arising directly..."


And then it goes on to say "or indirect impacts", so this whole issue of direct versus indirect.

You have already heard from a number of speakers today regarding the power of the Board.  I will attempt to be brief, and again will rely primarily on the written submissions, which again we tried to be as pithy as possible.

We think it is clear, under subsection 19(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, the Board is empowered to consider all questions of law and fact coming -- regarding matters coming within its jurisdiction, and those words being key, that it is not just considering consultation at large.  It is considering consultation in respect of the matters properly before it and within its jurisdiction.

This is, by the way, no different than what I would call Crown decision makers in terms of the case law you have already been taken through today, that it is going back to the decision.

There is no at large duty to consult to consider.  There is no -- nothing in Rio Tinto that stands for that proposition, and there is certainly nothing, again, I will submit, in any case law of which I am aware that there is a burden on a board to consider at large duty to consult issues.

It has to be restricted to the legislative mandate of the Board.  Again, I will take you to probably the only two paragraphs you have not been read from Rio Tinto that deals, in my submission, expressly with this point.

Subsection 96(1) of the act empowers the Board to determine whether proposed work is within the public interest, thereby providing the Board with a broad range of authority.

But, again, that public interest is in respect of the application before you.  It is not a public interest at large, in terms of whether or not another government decision maker ought to be making a decision.

If is whether the Board, considering the public interest, will be making a decision affirming or not approving a particular application before it.

As was noted earlier, there is no prohibition in the act - and this is consistent with what you have already heard from Rio Tinto - there is no express prohibition in your act preventing the Board from considering questions associated with section 35.

And the Supreme Court of Canada has already expressly confirmed that boards and tribunals with the authority to consider questions of law, and absent an express prohibition from dealing with section 35, possess the authority to consider questions dealing with the adequacy of Crown consultation on matters coming before that Board.

And this is already a -- in our submission, this is already a very clear statement of law, and that is paragraph 69 of Rio Tinto.  You have been taken to that at least three times, from what I recall, so I won't take you there again.

The applicant submits that in the present circumstances, it is our submission that the Board possesses the authority to consider the adequacy of the Crown's consultation requiring -- regarding any Crown decisions that may adversely affect Aboriginal treaty rights within the context of the leave-to-construct application.

So it is the application before the Board that the Board has the power to review.  And in our view, this position is completely consistent with this Board's recent decision regarding ACH Limited Partnership, and we have provided a citation for that.  We are quite familiar with the facts of that case.  And that would be entirely consistent of limiting the Board's jurisdiction to those things that you have jurisdiction over, to state a trite point, but it probably bears repeating for today's purposes.

The Board's role in assessing the adequacy of Crown consultation in the present circumstances is therefore limited, given the limited role of Crown decision-making within the environmental review process, combined with the fact that the proponent is a private entity.

The reason I say that is to draw your attention, again, probably to an obvious point, but this is noteworthy, that as important as Rio Tinto is, it would certainly be my submission to the Board that we have not heard everything from the Supreme Court of Canada on the role of boards.

And the reason I say that is that it was quite a peculiar situation, in the sense that the decision that triggered the duty to consult in Rio Tinto was not the board's decision.  It was BC Hydro's decision, as the applicant before the board's decision, to enter into an Electricity Purchase Agreement.  And it was because BC Hydro was, as the Court called them, a Crown actor that the Court went down its analysis.

Now, I am not at all suggesting that we ought not to be referring to Rio Tinto, but I state that because there is a question of:  Well, what do you do when it is a private proponent before a board that does not have the express ability to engage in consultation noted in its statute?

Again, I am going to come back to that question in a few minutes that the Board posed earlier, but Rio Tinto does not provide us with a complete answer to that, given the facts of Rio Tinto.

The applicant -- in our case, Union -- submits that the consultation in the context of the environmental report process -- if any was required, because there actually wasn't a Crown decision being made, there were some recommendations going forward to the Board -- has been carried out.

The First Nations received a copy of the report.  They were invited to express any concerns or comments they had regarding the report, and they chose not to take advantage of that process, in terms of providing any specific concerns regarding what was set out in it.

Now, I will take you -- I said that I would take you to Rio Tinto, and again, I will attempt to be as brief as possible, given how much time we spent on it.

I would ask you to turn to the Exhibit K1.3, the brief of authorities -- excuse me, I apologize.  It is K1.1.  My apologies.

This is the brief of authorities for Grand Council Treaty 3, and tab 3, Rio Tinto, and turn to paragraph, please, paragraph 62.

So again, the suggestion was made earlier we are at the end of the road regarding this project.  Now, I have already submitted -- and again, I think this is a matter of fact -- that this is not the end of the road for the project.  There are other approvals required for the project to proceed.

But here's what the -- the Supreme Court of Canada had to deal with the issue of:  Well, what happens if a Board isn't properly or isn't empowered sufficiently to deal with these issues?

At paragraph 62:

"The fact that administrative tribunals are confined to the powers conferred on them by the Legislature, and must confine their analysis and orders to the ambit of the questions before them on a particular application, admittedly raises the concern that governments may effectively avoid their duty to consult by limiting a tribunal’s statutory mandate."

So the Court's actually given at least some thought to this idea that, okay, if we're going down the road of saying it has to be expressed, well, what happens if a government decides it doesn't want to empower?

We are not at all suggesting that.  We are not making that submission, but we think this is instructive for the Board to see that the Court has given this some thought.

Going back to the paragraph 62:

"The fear is that if a tribunal is denied the power to consider consultation issues, or if the power to rule on consultation is split between tribunals so as to prevent anyone from effectively dealing with consultation arising from particular government actions, the government might effectively be able to avoid its duty to consult.  As the B.C. Court of Appeal rightly found, the duty to consult with Aboriginal groups, triggered when government decisions have the potential to adversely affect Aboriginal interests, is a constitutional duty invoking the honour of the Crown.  It must be met.  If the tribunal structure set up by the Legislature is incapable of dealing with a decision’s potential adverse impacts on Aboriginal interests, then the Aboriginal peoples affected must seek appropriate remedies in the courts..."

Now, again, it is not Union's submission to suggest that this is the overall answer to all of the questions before us today, but what it does demonstrate is that the Court put its mind to the issue of whether -- what happens in the instance where a Board is not fully empowered to deal with these issues?

And the Court is quite clear; First Nations must pursue those remedies in the courts.

Now, the issue of direct and indirect –- and we make this submission with respect.  Obviously, the Board has asked a very specific question about direct and indirect.  We would respectfully submit that that characterization is not found in the case law.  In fact, quite the contrary.

Direct effects is what Rio Tinto speaks to, and Rio Tinto speaks to the need for a causal relationship.

In our submission, the test isn't whether it is direct or indirect.  And I will add that I am not really sure what an indirect effect would be.  Something either affects or not.  It may be a remote effect, but it either affects or it doesn't affect.

The Court has commented on the potential for an adverse effect and the need for a causal relationship.  So if there is a basis of a causal relationship, that will be enough to say that there is an adverse effect.

And I would ask the Board to turn to paragraph 45 of Rio Tinto.  I will be very brief here, because we have been through these paragraphs a few times.  So I will be very brief, but I note at paragraph 45, second sentence:
 "The claimant must show a causal relationship between the proposed government conduct or decision and a potential for adverse impacts on pending Aboriginal claims or rights. Past wrongs... do not suffice."


But again, the Court is being very clear here.  They're actually giving us some direction.

We didn't have this direction.  We have five cases from the Supreme Court of Canada on the duty to consult.  This is the latest decision.  We didn't have this kind of express direction from the Court; we now have it.

If you turn to paragraph 46, third line up from the bottom of that paragraph, "As stated in Douglas", which is a BC Court of Appeal decision, "there must be an 'appreciable adverse effect'", and I will let you read the rest of that.

Paragraph 47, and here we see the word "direct" being used.  If you go down six lines -- five or six lines, this is such because structural changes -- they're talking about the various points at which the duty may be triggered, but here again you see "a direct", and the Court actually underscored or italicized the word "direct".

The Court doesn't use the word "indirect" in Rio Tinto, and I will suggest to you it doesn't use it in other decisions as well.

Paragraph 49, again, I am trying to be brief so I am not going to read through all of these.  They have been read into the record already.

"The question is whether there is a claim or right that potentially may be adversely impacted by the current government conduct or decision in question."


And in this case, that decision would be the Board's decision, not the other Crown decisions or Crown decisions that may be at play.

Paragraph 51, you will see again the Court referring to the causal connection that is required.

Finally, at paragraph 53 -- now, here the First Nation claimants were arguing in Rio Tinto a fairly broad view of consultation.  It had to include historical impacts, and I think what we would certainly submit would be remote impacts.  The Court says, "I cannot accept" -- Chief Justice McLachlin on behalf of the unanimous court, says, "I cannot accept this view", this broad view of the duty.

She then goes on to say Haida negates such a broad approach.  Next, skip a sentence.  The next one:
"It confines the duty to consult to adverse impacts flowing from the specific Crown proposal at issue — not to larger adverse..."

So, again, it is not direct or indirect.  It is:  Is there a causal relationship?

Then, finally, and at the risk of beating the point, but unfortunately I think it is worth noting again:
"The subject of the consultation is the impact on the claimed rights of the current..."

Again, the Court has italicized the word "current", "decision under consideration."

And, again, the Court goes on and on.  You will see later they refer to the decision at hand, and so on and so forth.

Counsel to the Grand Council claims the Board must address the broader future impacts the project may have to the surrounding area.

We submit that the Board is restricted to considering those matters to the extent that they should be appropriately dealt with within the context of the leave to construct application, and there deference needs to be had to the Board's procedures and to its act as the Legislature has set out.

If a First Nation has an issue with the act, they need to obviously take the appropriate remedy against the legislation.

We submit that the Board does not have the authority to consider indirect impacts.  We think that the law is absolutely clear that that is not part of the statutory -- or the legal parameters of the duty to consult.  Again, I have focussed my submissions on Rio Tinto, but would submit that I am not aware, again, of any Supreme Court of Canada case law that would contradict that point.

The consultation must be focussed on the decisions at hand and link directly or in some reasonable way to the project and the application before the Board, and obviously within the jurisdiction of the Board, to make a trite point.

The Board confirmed, for example, that focussed treatment on cumulative or ancillary effects.

Now, Grand Council was focussed on future effects.  We are making our comment on cumulative effects, but, again, to demonstrate to the Board that the Crown has given some thought -- the Board has given some thought to how environmental issues are going to be considered within the ambit of its jurisdiction and the application before it, and here cumulative and ancillary effects are expressly dealt with and they were dealt with in the environmental report, to which all of those ministries that I had enumerated or ran through earlier were part of.

So in the environmental protection plan, under section 8.0, page 14 - again, this is already part of the prefiled evidence, to be clear - Union expressly deals with these issues, and the Board has the benefit of already receiving Board Staff views on the environmental report that has been submitted.

I would ask that we turn back to case law, again, briefly, back to K1.1, volume 2.  So this is the book of authorities for the Grand Council, tab 16.

I would ask you to turn to paragraph 38.  I will be coming back to this in a moment, but this goes to the question that you asked of:  What is the scope of the Board's review, and whether or not consultation is triggered?

I will be coming back to this when I talk about Haida at the end of my submissions to address some issues that were raised earlier.

So in Little Salmon at paragraph 38, page 38, in that instance -- this is a case dealing with modern treaty rights, Supreme Court of Canada in the Yukon.  And there, the Yukon government had argued there is no duty to consult.

They had taken the view that they had read the treaty.  They were of the view there was no duty to consult triggered.  So that is the starting point.  So the court writes:
"The denial by the Yukon territorial government of any duty to consult except as specifically listed in the LSCFN Treaty complicated the Paulsen situation..."

That is the particular application that was before the court:
"...because at the time the Director dealt with the application the treaty implementation..."


Then the Court goes on to say, I don't believe that was a complete code.

Now, the point here is that the territorial government was of the view there was no duty.  But it is paragraph 39 I wanted to draw your attention to.  "Nevertheless", and this is a finding of fact that the earlier courts had made that the Supreme Court of Canada is now reiterating, "consultation", and this is italicized, "was made available".

So even though the Yukon government had argued there is no duty to consult in the treaty, we will consult, anyway.  They did go out and actually consult.

And the Court says, consultation was made available and did take place through -- and they refer to it as the LARC process, a committee process set up by the government under the 1991 agriculture policy.  And the ultimate question is whether what happened in this case, even though it was mischaracterized by the territorial government as a courtesy rather than the fulfilment of a legal obligation, was sufficient:
"In Taku River... the Court held that participation in a forum created for other purposes may nevertheless satisfy the duty to consult if in substance..."


So regardless of whether the Yukon government was right or wrong about whether or not the duty was triggered, it had occurred in fact:  "If in substance an appropriate level of consultation is provided."

I will come back to this, but I would submit that this is another piece of the puzzle that we can focus on, who is the Crown and whether the Crown duty was triggered, but the evidence demonstrates that, in fact, every reasonable effort was made to consult with the First Nations potentially having an interest in the project.

And regardless of the characterization - and not at all commenting on whether the characterization was right or wrong - we have a very clear decision from the Supreme Court of Canada, albeit on very specific facts, but it was quite clear that the Court said this is an issue of substance:  Did consultation actually occur?

It would be our submission that in this instance, regardless of how one frames the issue, there is ample evidence that the First Nations were afforded every reasonable opportunity -- given the nature of the project, given the process under way with respect to the LTC application specifically, that every effort was made to reasonably consult with them, regardless of whether a duty or not was triggered or how that duty is characterized.

The Board's final question was whether the Crown can impliedly delegate the duty to consult to a private proponent.

A pithy answer to that is "no".  The case law is clear the Crown cannot delegate the duty.  The duty rests with the Crown. However, the Crown can delegate procedural aspects of the duty, and does across the country.

The vast majority of consultation occurring in Ontario and elsewhere, a large portion -- I am not suggesting all of it in every single instance -- a large portion of it is carried out by project proponents, regardless of which jurisdiction one may be in, but I would certainly include Ontario in that.

The case law relating to consultation clearly demonstrates that the delegation of procedural aspects can be either express or implied.

Indeed, certainly, again, it would be my submission that the case law of which I am aware, I would be hard pressed to give an example to this Board of an express delegation to carry out section 35 consultation procedural aspects to a private third-party proponent.  I'm sure there is an example that exists, but it is certainly not the way that the vast majority of Crown decision makers have, to date, or courts have required it.

Again, I am certainly not aware of any case law that suggested that you must have an express delegation of section 35 duty to consult to a private proponent.

If that was the case, I suspect we would see some case law on that point to date.  I am not at all suggesting that that won't be an issue for a court to deal with at some point in the future, but it is certainly not one that we are aware of right now.

We would submit that any consultation that was required to be carried out regarding the leave-to-construct application was carried out.  To the extent that any duty to consult may have been triggered here, it was adequately carried out.

We had Crown oversight.  Indeed, the very first level of communication from Union Gas -- and this is all on the record; this is in revised schedule 16 -- the first piece of communication noted in that schedule is not Union Gas contacting the First Nations, but contacting the Ministry of Natural Resources, contacting the Crown overall on what it needs to do in respect of -- and that is clearly set out in revised schedule 16.

Now, I would like -- I have a few minutes left, and there were a couple of questions posed, primarily, I think, in respect of, first of all, Haida and this notion of pushing off consultation.

I believe I have dealt with that to some extent, but let me just try to add something to that.  This is with respect to paragraphs 74 and 75.  I actually don't intend on taking you to those paragraphs.

What I will say is that in the Haida case, you had -- the facts were a replacement of a tree farm licence.  Under the tree farm licence, you require certain cutting permits and you have to go back to the Crown for approval.

The government of British Columbia and Weyerhaeuser argued that -- and they in fact did not, the Crown did not consult in that instance, and that is important to note, as well.

So there was no consultation, and they argued that there ought not to have been any consultation.

The Crown argued:  We don't need to consult in respect of the replacement of a tree farm licence, because we are going to consult later on these individual cutting permits.

Well, that's not at all, not even remotely, related to the matter before the Board.  No one has made any submissions to the Board that consultation, if any is required in respect to the leave-to-construct application, is going to be put off to another -- or to another decision maker or to a Crown decision maker.

Certainly Union hasn't made that submission; I've not heard any party make that submission.  We won't be making that submission.


Any duty to consult, if it is in fact at all triggered in respect of the leave-to-construct application, has to be dealt with in respect of the leave-to-construct application, and in our submission, has adequately been done under the guidelines provided for by the Board. So to suggest that Haida stands for a general proposition that you can't put off consultation to another day, well, that is true if there's a link between the decisions, if you are saying that we're not going to consult with you now, but we will consult with you later.

But no one has suggested that.  Certainly Union hasn't made that argument, and I did not hear that argument from our friends at Goldcorp.

Any consultation has been done.  It's been done in accordance with the rules and procedures established by the Board, under the guidance of various Crown agencies that Union has been in consultation with.

So this notion of pushing off consultation, yes, there may be consultation in respect of Crown decisions forthcoming, but that is not pushing off Crown consultation now, because that would be wrong at law, in our submission, to suggest that.

Now, finally, in terms of the bigger questions, I just have a couple of very brief concluding comments.

But in terms of who is the Crown, the question that was posed, as I noted earlier, I believe that and it is our submission that Rio Tinto did not expressly address this issue of who is actually the Crown.

They dealt with it in terms of the particular facts before them.  And those facts bear repeating, that the decision at issue there was BC Hydro, as a Crown actor, making a decision on an electricity purchase agreement.

You have a private proponent before you, and you note -- as I had already took you to those couple of paragraphs in Rio Tinto -- the Board actually, I think the -- excuse me, the Court was actually aware of some of the limitations of the facts it was presented with, because it actually contemplated a situation where you maybe have a private proponent coming forward where there is no Crown actor.

Now, having said all of that, we know from Haida -- and my friend, Mr. Blue, has taken you to a number of those relevant provisions -- that consultation will vary with the circumstances.

It is our submission that we don't have an express decision from the Supreme Court of Canada on precisely whether or not a Board is, in fact, the Crown for the purposes of consultation.

That may not, in fact, be the appropriate question to ask.  The question maybe is whether or not consultation occurred, given the construct of what the Crown has put in place for its decision-making.

So it is a slightly different -- and I sound like I am splitting hairs, but the fact is we don't have guidance from the Supreme Court of Canada, in my submission, on this particular point of whether or not -- is the Board the Crown for the purposes of the duty to consult?  Is the Board's process part of the decision-making process over which the Crown has supervision, by way of its legislation?  Or is it the third option, that the Supreme Court of Canada has set out, that the Board was not adequately empowered to deal with any of these issues and that a court needs to intervene?

And I took, you again, to those paragraphs.

It would be our submission that it doesn't matter in terms of the present application, and the reason we would make that submission is if the Board is the Crown for the purposes of the duty to consult, there has been, in our submission, adequate consultation, and ample evidence of, certainly, attempts to engage in reasonable consultation with any of the potentially interested First Nations.

If the Board is not fully empowered to deal with these issues, well, that is not a matter that the Board can deal with anyway, according to Rio Tinto.

And finally, if it is the Crown decision-making process, that the Crown has authorized this by way of statute that this is the process to which the Crown has set up and defers -- and I would suggest to you that the courts will, or to date have shown deference to the decision-making processes, where they're properly constituted –- then, again, adequate consultation has occurred in this instance.

The issue of whether or not the Board is an agent in and of itself isn't determinative.  And again, we don't think that that is a matter, again, directly before the Board, but we know, based on the law around agency generally -- and I think, again, if you look at the analysis in Rio Tinto around the role of BC Hydro, that agency was part of what the Board looked at, but they basically referred to Hydro as a Crown actor in the end.

When you look at Standing Buffalo and Brokenhead -- and it would be our submission that there is nothing in Rio Tinto that contradicts those decisions.  And I note that, again, Standing Buffalo leave to appeal refused by the Supreme Court of Canada, prior to Rio Tinto albeit -- that there, in both of those decisions, the court focussed in on the NEB process and all of the good things that are part of the NEB process; that is, the proponent going out, engaging in and attempting to engage in consultation, and the Board considering that evidence as part of its deliberations.

Well, in both of those decisions, which are again part of the record here - and you will be able to review them - demonstrate that the Court showed a great degree of deference to both processes undertaken by the NEB in both of those applications.

At the end of the day, it is what actually happened that mattered, because there is some contradiction there.  If you read those decisions, you will see the Federal Court and Federal Court of Appeal saying, Well, on the one hand, the National Energy Board isn't the Crown, but they did a very good job of consulting, and that is what those decisions stand for.

And so you are left with the proposition of:  How do we marry those two things?

In the end, and that's why I took you to Little Salmon Carmacks.  It is the substance at the end, ultimately, that the Court is saying will count, and that is:  Were First Nations given an adequate opportunity to put forward their concerns and interests regarding this project?

Already filed with the Board is ample evidence that the First Nations had that opportunity and that they did not, to quote Standing Buffalo, avail themselves of the regulatory process to which they were given notice back in 2010.  And that is simply -- again, in our submission, that is simply a fact before this Board.

And those are my submissions.  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  I have a few clarifying questions.

You mentioned that the environmental report was sent to the First Nations on January 21st, and I note that the application and report was filed with the Board on February 8th.

Was the purpose of sending it on the 21st as a draft to seek input before it was filed with the Board; do you know?

MR. ISAAC:  What I can say is - and we will be sharing this correspondence with the Board with your permission and would like that to be on the record - is that comments were requested from the First Nations in terms of their review of that report, and those comments were requested by March 25th.

So the idea was presumably to get the application in.  If we had any comments, we would obviously be dealing with them forthwith with the Board.

MS. HARE:  I assume you didn't get any comments?

MR. ISAAC:  No, Union did not receive any comments.

MS. HARE:  Can you also tell me, the environmental report, when it was sent to the OPCC, do those ministries, do you know, consult with anyone before they respond with comments?

MR. ISAAC:  Quite frankly, we don't know what all of their processes are.

I can tell you that Union was somewhat deferential to what their comments were, but we don't know what their internal processes were.

MS. HARE:  And from the letter from the ministry, the way I read it, it sounds like the first meeting between those ministries and Lac Seul First Nation was June 13th.  Is that correct?  Am I reading that correctly, that that was the first meeting?

I will ask my follow-ups, too, because the way I read the letter, it sounds like there has not been a meeting with Wabauskang yet.  And I also note that Grassy Narrows First Nation and Wabaseemoong are copied on the letter, but to me reading the letter, it looks like there's been no meeting with either of those other three First Nations.

Do you know?

MR. ISAAC:  I don't know.  I can only take the letter on its face.

MS. HARE:  Can you tell me, when did Union Gas apply for the various permits to Ministry of Natural Resources, transportation, water crossing permits, probably work permits, or maybe the question is:  Have they been applied for?

MR. ISAAC:  So other than approvals required from the Ministry of Culture, all of the other approvals were applied for approximately in mid-January of this year.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

Lastly, you spoke about procedural aspects can be delegated.

MR. ISAAC:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  Can you help me understand what that means isn't delegated?

MR. ISAAC:  That is a very good question.  We have -- I assume my colleagues would agree with me, but I could be incorrect in that.  We have very little guidance.

In terms of the use of the phrase "procedural aspects of consultation", I believe between all of the counsel here today that have run through the cases, you have seen everything from the Supreme Court of Canada in terms of express statements on procedural aspects.

Our submission would be that the Court takes a fairly broad view of that, but I do have to caveat that by saying I don't have anything express to point to.

What we do have is an abundance of case law looking at various situations and the Court commenting in Haida the consultation with the circumstances.

What we have seen in practice is proponents carrying out a large part of consultation and the Crown playing different roles at different times, and sometimes being very high-level oversight role, and in other cases very much taking the lead on -- so Taku River, for example, that Supreme Court of Canada decision, there you would see the British Columbia Environmental Assessment Office taking a very proactive role in the consultation; whereas in other environmental assessment processes in Canada, the Crown doesn't take as much of a proactive role.

It would be our submission that the Court will again look at substance, and the standard is the honour of the Crown, and, all things being equal, whether the honour of the Crown was met.  And I do think -- and that is why I took the Board to that.  Again, it is only two paragraphs, but I think is instructive that the Court said - I was rather surprised to read it - that even though the Yukon government argued it didn't hold the duty, that didn't colour the Court's conclusion that the duty had nevertheless been met in that instance.

And, again, we have only got what we've got from the Supreme Court, and, unfortunately, on procedural aspects we have only got really a few lines, but we have a large amount of case law, I think, suggesting that it can be fairly broad.  But it will depend on the circumstances, and what might be appropriate for some circumstances may not be appropriate for others.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Thank you very much, Mr. Isaac.

Can I get an estimate of time for reply submissions from the First Nations, or maybe I should ask this way?  Were you planning to make reply?

MR. JANES:  Yes.  I think the plan is that Dr. McIvor, then Mr. Major, and then myself would reply.  To some extent, since we haven't coordinated our replies and have no idea what we're each going to say, how much time I might need will depend very much on what my friends have said.  They may very well cross off a number of issues.

I will say this.  I have a flight at 7 o'clock, so I am bound and determined to get out of here in time to have a chance of making it home.

MS. HARE:  So we will take a ten-minute break to allow you some time to chat and coordinate, and then we will return at 4:25 to hear the reply.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 4:15 p.m.


--- On resuming at 4:29 p.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Is the order as we discussed before the break?  Okay.

So Dr. McIvor, then, you are first.

Further Submissions by Dr. McIvor:

DR. McIVOR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I want it start with the reply submissions of the Board Staff, or the submissions of the Board Staff.  I will begin to note that my hearing of what went after my submissions leads me, and I think the Board, to see that the only substantive reply to Wabauskang's argument that the Board itself here has the powers to engage in consultation and accommodation, if required itself, came from the Board Staff.

The Board staff raised two points.  The first was going back to 1994, the Quebec Hydro NEB, pointing out the paragraph where they referred to you can't, as an admin tribunal, engage when it is based on a fiduciary duty.

Since then, it has been clearly established in Haida - I won't take you there, but you can go to paragraph 53 - the duty to consult is based on the honour of the Crown.  It is not based on a fiduciary duty.

That was the -- one of the findings at the Court of Appeal below the Supreme Court of Canada specifically rejected that.

So NEB does not apply on that point.

Second, the Board Staff raised the point that the review of the Utilities Act in Rio Tinto, well, the Court did not do that.  The Court did not apply the test that it made out pro -- is there a prohibition?  Next, do you have the remedial powers to the BC Utilities Act in that case, because it wasn't an issue before the Board?

There, the sole question was:  Do you have the responsibility and obligation to assess the adequacy?  The Board did not go through that test in regards to the Utilities Act.  It did set out the test now, and I say it is up to this Board to review its own powers and apply it to the test.

Second, the point made by the Board Staff on Standing Buffalo and is there a difference when there is a private proponent, I believe now you do have a copy of the Carrier Sekani decision from the BC Court of Appeal.  I'm sorry if -- I thought they were handed out.  I expect this might be the only case I take you to, though.

MS. HARE:  And we should give that an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.5.  That is the BC Court of Appeal decision in Carrier Sekani Tribal Council and British Columbia Utilities Commission.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  BC COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IN CARRIER SEKANI TRIBAL COUNCIL AND BRITISH COLUMBIA UTILITIES COMMISSION.

MR. McIVOR:  If I could take you to paragraph 51, here the Court dealt with what's an administrative tribunal supposed to did.  And the Court there, the Court of Appeal in BC, said you have a duty to decide.  You have to decide these issues.  They cannot be deferred.  They cannot be put off on someone else.  The obligation is on you.  You can't proceed to make your statutory decision until there is a decision.

At paragraph 1, the Court deals with this.  It says:

"Not only has the Commission the ability to decide the consultation issue, it is the only appropriate forum to decide the issue in a timely way."
The same applies here.
"Furthermore, the honour of the Crown obliges it to do so.  As a body to which powers have been delegated by the Crown, it must not deny the appellant timely access to a decision maker with the authority over the subject matter."

And it is that last part:
"Timely access to a decision-maker with authority over the subject matter."

I don't think there is any debate here, that is the Board.  First Nations must have access to that decision maker.  This is part of the answer to Madam Chair's question:  What is procedural in compared -- what is not procedural?  Well, this is the substantive.

Goldcorp, Union Gas, these ministries referred to in the June 17th, they aren't the decision maker here; you are.  And so you can't simply rely on something else that they have done.

The First Nations have a right to access to the Board when the duty to consult is raised.  So far, that has not been done.  We are at a scoping hearing here.

Now, as my friends referred to in paragraph -- just for your notes -- in paragraph 75 of Rio Tinto, the Supreme Court of Canada confirms the BC Court of Appeal's reasoning on this point, saying the duty must be met, period.  That is what the Supreme Court is talking about.

And this is referred, again, in the BC Court of Appeal, the decision in Kwikwetlem.  It was relied on.  That case, as I said, was not appealed.

Now, the question about what other developments, the mine and so forth, this will be a recurring point.

That is premature.  That is for the future.  We are here with a scoping order.  Unless there is a different procedural order out there that I am not aware of, yours is very, very narrow and very direct.  And the Chair began the day by saying we were going to be limited to the questions set out in the procedural order.

The question of what is the -- what are the effects, was the duty fulfilled, what is the scope and content in this particular situation, that is not part of your procedural order.

And I would suggest that the Board be wary to follow Union Gas' and Goldcorp's lead to invite you down a path to assess those factual questions.  That would raise concerns about procedural fairness and natural justice, given the limited scope of the scoping Order before us today.

Now, the Board Staff raised the issue of responsiveness -- this came up through Goldcorp and Union Gas -- to:  Were the Aboriginal people here responsive enough?

Again, that is a factual issue for the future, but what I will say here is there is nothing in the law which says you are not responsive enough, suddenly not being timely will trump.

If you frustrate the consultation process, then that is an issue for assessment, but that the First Nations had problems dealing with, or whatever the reasons were, the information that was coming to them, or certain information didn't come to them.  I heard from my friend, Mr. Isaac, that certain of them did not receive the procedural order.

That is no trump for your constitutional obligations.  You still have to go there and assess it.  You can't stand back, to begin with, and say:  Well, they didn't reply to a letter fast enough.  Therefore their constitutional rights are out the window.

That is not the way it works.  You are upholding the honour of the Crown.  It is not a legalistic endeavour.  As the Court has repeatedly said, it is a solemn obligation of the Crown, and now you are wearing that hat.

My friends took you to this June 17th, 2011 letter, and again, this is one of the concerns with the way that this hearing has proceeded.

Wabauskang has proceeded based on the procedural order, a scoping one, legal questions.

We received this letter dated June 17th, which raises substantive points about what was done by who.

Well, I have a letter from June 17th myself, where Wabauskang is raising concerns about the specific issue.

I have one from June 25th -- March 25th, from Wabauskang directly to Union Gas, about their concerns about lack of consultation.

I do not see those on the record.

And I am sure or I would expect the other First Nations involved have their own concerns, to bring their evidence forward.  That has not been done here, because it has been part of a scoping order solely on these legal questions.

That's why we must wait for the future, to do it properly.

Now, this letter of June 17th, I think it is important to go to it and look actually at what these ministries say.  You were taken to paragraph --


MR. BLUE:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  This is not proper reply.  The letter of June 17th was in the record this morning.

Dr. McIvor had ample chance to address it in his opening argument.  This is not reply.

DR. McIVOR:  I'm sorry, I disagree.  This is reply.  This is reply to my friend, Mr. Isaacs, who took you to this letter, read part of a sentence and didn't read the rest.

I want to explain it in reply to Madam Chair's questions about certain aspects of this letter.  So this is, indeed, proper reply.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, do you have any comments?

MR. MILLAR:  Only briefly.  To the extent it is replying to direct arguments made by Mr. Isaacs with respect to the letter, frankly, the Board's practice would usually be to allow some discussion of that.  But it is obviously your call.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Please continue.

DR. McIVOR:  So in paragraph 2, you were taken to the first -- the second full sentence.  It says, "Ontario is engaged with these First Nations directly" and the words "continuing oversight".

When you continue on, of course, I don't want to misrepresent my friend.  I think he did read this in, the procedural aspects of consultation.

The point that he didn't make and I want to make in reply is it is the oversight of the procedural aspects.  The Ministry is specifically saying that.

They're not saying, We're engaging in consultation on the OEB's decision.  When you go to page 3, the point was raised by my friends, What are the ministries doing?  How does that relate to your obligations?

I will just point out the last full paragraph on page 3.  The ministries note themselves the limited scope of their decisions. They're not making your decision and they're not consulting on your decision.

Now, Mr. Isaacs took you to the second-last paragraph on page 4, and he emphasized this point of the past and ongoing.

Okay, past.  Let's review what happened then.  I am not disagreeing that that could be a live issue, and that would be the subject of the hearing into the evidence.  What you have heard today is you do not have a full evidentiary record before you.  The parties did not come prepared, based on your procedural order, to argue that.

MS. HARE:  That is true, Dr. McIvor.  But if I could take you to Procedural Order No. 1, a schedule was laid out at the start of this proceeding which indicated that the record would actually be closed by May 4th.

So there has been evidence produced and there has been examination of that evidence.

So I think it is not quite correct to say that there is not a full evidentiary record, when in fact we have had evidence for quite some time which has been tested.

DR. McIVOR:  I am not disagreeing that there is evidence before the Board, but, with respect, Madam Chair, there is not a full evidentiary record.  The March 25th letter is referred to in the consultation log.  It is not in your evidence.

Now, as far as it being closed, then it would raise a question why this is appearing on June 17th, but the more important issue here is that I think you have heard from myself and my friends that there's serious questions about this.

I can tell you, with experience, when this type of issue, this exact one, has come up before the BC Utilities Commission, the Kwikwetlem case, which set the law in BC on this in 2009, the Commission didn't stop and say, Well, we've got a record, then, and we're just going to go based on that now that we know we have to consult.

What the BC Utilities Commission did was hold an evidentiary hearing and allowed for information requests, allowed for the filing of direct evidence, heard from the First Nations directly.  So that's what they did when it was found that it was in scope.  They had to do these things.  They were told so by the BC Court of Appeal.

They didn't say, Well, let's look at what the record is up to date.  Let's make sure we have a full record before us.

And I would urge the same practice on this part.  This goes to the point that was raised by my friends from Goldcorp about how, Oh, you can't start doing this.  It is a morass.

There is nothing to support that.  I know BC is on the far side of the country, but it is still part of Canada.  If they can do it in BC, I don't see why the Board here can't do the same thing.

This was a point raised that there is no evidence, as in some of the Legislature in Ontario, that there was direct delegation to the Board.  That is not a requirement.  That is a settled question of law.  You do not need direct delegation.

The Court in Rio Tinto set this test out.  The Court didn't say there, You can't get involved in duty to consult if there is no direct delegation.  You can't assess it.

The parties here agree that you can do that, and we say you should get to it.

Now, just a couple of points to end with here from my friend, Mr. Isaacs.  And with all due respect, I do not agree with him on two points that he made regarding Rio Tinto, the first being where he referred to the avoidance of the duty at paragraph 62.

Here the Court was talking about a prohibition situation.  They weren't talking about the same situation as here, if you are incapable or not.

As far as what your options would be if you don't get access to the Court, that is another settled question.  I will just refer you to paragraph 12 to 15 of Haida where the Court there dealt with the possibility of, We don't have to consult, because there is injunctive relief.  That is a settled question.

You can't sidestep it, because it is always available for the First Nation to go to court.

And one more point that he made was drawing the distinction between -- trying to draw the distinction between what is here before the Board and what was before the Supreme Court of Canada in Rio Tinto.  And he said that, Oh, that was actually a decision by Hydro that was being reviewed, not a decision by the Board, or at least that is what I heard him to say.

I do not agree with that, with all due respect.  If you look at paragraph 17 of Rio Tinto, it is clear the Board was making a statutory decision under section 71 of the Utilities Act, just like you are making one.  It was to accept a long-term electricity purchase agreement, a contract.  But they were making the decision.

Now, a final point, I think it is a very useful one raised by Madam Chair about this:  What's procedural versus substantive?

There is very good guidance on this recently from our Court of Appeal in BC, the West Moberly case.  It is in your -- it is in the Grand Council's book of authorities, volume 2, tab 23.

I will just refer you to the paragraphs.  It is at paragraphs 100 to 107.  What was important here was at the BC Supreme Court, below, there is an issue raised:  If you have a statutory decision maker without the mandate, without the power to do something, what can you do?

And the BC Supreme Court said, Well, hey, you can't do proper consultation if you send someone out to speak to the First Nations who have no power, no remedial powers to accommodate them.  So that is a sign.

They must be speaking directly to someone who has remedial powers, has a mandate to do something.  That is substantive consultation.

Union Gas didn't have that, Goldcorp didn't have that, and these ministerial representatives didn't have that.  They weren't engaged in that.  They weren't doing it.

And then finally on that, for your notes, if you review paragraph 107 of West Moberly, I think it is helpful.  What do if you don't have it?

What if the Board says:  Well, okay.  We're going to engage in consultation and accommodation, but we can't do all of these things.  Now, that's down the road.  We don't know what accommodation, if any, would be required.  We don't know.

That is for the future.  But what the Court said in West Moberly was that a statutory decision maker has to go out and find other representatives of government with the mandate that can helpful fulfill it.

So you can do that.  You are not left on your own.  If it comes to that point, it's not like you just have to walk away.

Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Mr. Major?
Further Submissions by Mr. Major:

MR. MAJOR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Goldcorp suggested that the duty to consult in this situation is on the low end of the spectrum, that scope of the review required here is to consider only direct impacts, and that really the land claim that Lac Seul has raised is an indirect impact that can be dealt with in the courts.

Well, the possibility of a pipeline going on claimed lands is a direct impact on treaty rights, and it is a direct impact with respect to this current project.

The promise in the treaty is -- for reserve lands is arguably the most serious promise, and therefore requires the highest level of consultation.

And I want to just follow up on a point that Dr. McIvor was making.  It is not just consultation; it is consultation and accommodation.

So it isn't just a matter of showing that First Nations were talked to, but that their concerns were heard, and where those concerns are reasonable, they were accommodated.

And I would suggest that the record does not show that at this point.

One other point is, again, on evidentiary record, Madam Chair, you pointed out that the record was closed on May the 4th.  Goldcorp is here urging you to make a decision about the constitutional rights of First Nations, based on a letter that was received Friday from the Crown.

We've had no chance to respond to that letter, to confirm or deny the facts that are set out in it.

And I suggest that that is not a procedurally fair outcome.

Those are all of the submissions I have.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. JANES:  Now, just to follow up quickly on that, even aside from the evidence point, given the procedural order, it would have been inappropriate for us to come with the arguments even on the existing evidence as to whether or not the duty to consult had been discharged.

That fundamentally -- and this is the reply point -- when you look at Brokenhead, paragraph 42, which you were taken to, and you weren't read the last sentence, and when you look at paragraph 39 of Beckman, what you see in both cases is that there is a requirement that whatever is being put forward as the alternate process or the other means or the ministerial means or whatever of consultation, has to actually be assessed.  And there is two parts to that.

One is it has to be assessed for:  Does it actually achieve the ends of the duty to consult, the process?

And then it also has to be assessed for the purpose of determining:  Was that process followed?  Or will it be properly followed?

And absent that analysis, you can't really conclude anything about, you know:  Are future processes adequate or not?

That is particularly tricky in that case, because remember, particularly if you accept Mr. Isaac's submission about the narrow range of the duty to consult, which, for the reasons we said this morning, is wrong, flatly wrong, is that the future permits that Mr. Isaac and the other -- my other friends say:  We'll deal with, we'll deal with our concerns, are even narrower than what is before you.

You are the end of the road for assessing the project as a whole.

Is the project needed?  What is the effect of the project as a whole?

If we can't raise the larger issues with you of what's going to happen down the road, what's going to happen when we go to MNR to talk about a watercourse crossing?

And that's the problem, is that if you defer to narrower and narrower decisions -- and those decisions are described in Union Gas's footnote 2 -- you are not going to ever deal with the real issues.

I just want to highlight the importance even of having a proper --


MR. BURDEN:  Excuse me, I apologize.  I don't often intervene and I appreciate in reply, you shouldn't, and I appreciate this isn't a court and that you have flexible procedures, but this is re-argument.  This is definitely re-argument.

He didn't need –- he made that point this morning, and now we are hearing it again, and I just leave you with that.

MR. JANES:  Actually, I didn't make that point this morning, but I will also be moving on, in any event, as I was about to.

I just want to highlight on this whole morass of indirect versus direct, causally connected versus not causally connected, you know, my friends have pointed to the EA assessment as everything.

And if you look at page 14 of the EA assessment, it talks about the benefits of the downstream development, and I suggest that even in that context, it would be ironic to say that it is outside the jurisdiction of the Board to consider the detriments, while the EA assessment that they're holding forward as an example of consultation looks at the benefits.

Second, I want to reply to the point that Mikisew and -- there was one other case that was -- oh, of Beckman, stand for the proposition that when you are in the treaty context, the duty to consult is always at the lower end of the spectrum.

That is actually, again, a factual finding based on the facts of those cases, and other cases arrive at different decisions.

And I will highlight the Dene Tha decision, paragraph 111, in that case, which was a Treaty 8 Case -- same treaty as at stake at Mikisew -- the consultation was viewed as essentially the deep consultation, the more serious consultation, because of the effects of a pipeline in that case.

The other thing is you have to appreciate each treaty is different, and I will just refer you to the copy of Treaty 3, which is found in Goldcorp's authority, tab 1.

I would ask you to look at page 5 of 11, and you will see there that in Treaty 3 the power to take up land, on its face, is restricted to the Dominion government, not the provincial government.

And that is an issue that is before the courts in a trial that, you know, I was involved in for 80-odd days and I'm waiting for a decision.

All my point is is that to actually assess these issues around the duty to consult, you have to have a detailed look at the facts and apply the law to it.

Next point, number of references to the duty to consult in the context of private lands, it is flatly wrong to say that the duty to consult would not apply on private lands.

Treaty rights clearly apply on private lands if those lands meet an unoccupied test.  That is the Badger case, and there was a case called Hupacasath -- H-U-P-A-C-A-S-A-T-H -- First Nation versus British Columbia, 2005, BCSC 1712, which clearly applies the duty to consult on private lands when there is a Crown decision being made in relation to private lands.

On the submission of Board Counsel that he is unaware of any case where a board or commission, you know, has been treated as a Crown decision maker for these purposes, I will just refer you to Apsassin versus BC Oil and Gas Commission, 2007, BCSC 492, 2004, BCCA, 286.

And that dealt with the Oil and Gas Commission, which is somewhat -- you are between the Oil and Gas Commission and the NEB in your characteristics, but one of the interesting characteristics of the Oil and Gas Commission in BC as opposed to the NEB is, like you, it is a statutory Crown agent.

And in terms of Mr. Blue's comment about the effect of section 2 of the act, I would just highlight that that pretty well exact argument was tried out in Rio Tinto and rejected, as the point was made that the -- that despite a listing of criteria to be considered, that does not exclude constitutional issues from public interest consideration.

And my final point is that Mr. Isaac has mischaracterized the nature of my argument, and that we're certainly not saying that you have to consider consultation at large about everything.

There clearly has to be some form of causal connection established on the evidence to be considered.  And, in our view, the downstream effects, the benefits that are relied upon, are certainly causally connected to the considerations, but that is an issue that would have to be argued outside the context of what you told us to argue in the scoping order.

Those are my reply submissions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Ms. Conboy?
Questions by the Board:

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Yes, I have one question, and it is to any of the three of you to respond.

Ms. Hare pointed out our procedures that are set out in the notice and in procedural orders, and also we have the environmental guidelines that have been referred to by many parties today.

I would ask you what responsibilities -- so these procedural orders set out Union Gas's, the applicant, responsibilities with respect to providing notice.

What responsibilities are there on other parties to respond to those?

Now, I appreciate you were just retained on Friday, but there was a process that went on beforehand and we can see notice that has been served.

So what responsibility comes back the other way?

MR. JANES:  Let me break it into two categories.  One is the procedural involvement in this hearing, which is distinct from the consultation issues.

So speaking for Grand Council Treaty 3 - and it would apply to everybody - obviously we would have to apply to you and, you know, essentially ask for an indulgence.  You would have to make a procedural order with respect to that, and then ultimately you can make further procedural orders about how we would go forward.

So in terms of participation in the hearing, it is, you know, explain, make submissions.  You ultimately have a decision.

And to some extent, in part, in your Procedural Order No. 2, I think, at least with respect to the Grand Council, you say, Look, we were out of line in not applying early, but given the seriousness of the issue, you are not going to dismiss it on the basis of lateness.  There might be other reasons to dismiss it, but that is the kind of process that has to be followed for the procedure in this hearing.

And you are the mistresses of that proceeding in that context.  And, you know, you gave the other parties an opportunity to make submissions.  You called for submissions.  Submissions were made.

Now, in the context of the duty to consult, it is the classic formulation going right back to the Halfway River case - and my friend Mr. Isaac referred to it - is that consultation is a two-way street.

But what you see in the cases -- and this is one of those things where I will say this is why it does actually take some focussed analysis, is that the First Nation has to respond, and it has to respond on the basis of what it is told.

So, for example, factors like -- I will give you a flavour.  We have a First Nation.  It gets a letter from the government and writes back and says, We are just not -- you know, you can't do anything without our consent.  Go away.

Sometimes letters are written in much more colourful language than that.  That is out of bounds on the part of the First Nation.  Like, the law is clear the First Nation doesn't have a veto, okay?

But then there is sort of a whole gradation of these situations.  The First Nation -- a letter comes in, and the First Nation is overwhelmed.  Courts have looked at that and said, Look, it is just not realistic.  There's cases -- I will give you an example.  A case called Kitkatla where a letter came in and it was ambiguous about the timing of decisions and whether or not consultation would be ongoing.

Well, in that situation the Court said, Yes, the First Nation has to reply and thought it still had time to do so.

If you look at the June 17th letter, you will see the discussion there is about an ongoing consultation process.  There is not an indication that it is done.

There is other situations, and there is a case in the authorities called Adams Lake, where the government -- what happened was that there were communications back and forth.  Eventually, the First Nation got tired of the government not responding to its requests, and what the court said is that, Well, the First Nation isn't obliged to keep on coming to meetings if the government makes it clear it is not going to deal with its issues.

So what I would say is that the answer to your question is is that there is a reciprocal obligation on the part of the First Nation to engage in the process.  That obligation, though, has to be evaluated in all of the circumstances of the back and forth.

In other words, for example, it is a very different situation if Union Gas comes and says, Look, we have to have a reply to this by tomorrow.  If you don't answer this tomorrow, it is the end of the road.  Like, there will be more chances to say anything.

If the First Nation blows through that, then, you know, that is a problem.  If, on the other hand, Union Gas comes and says, Look, this is the beginning of a great relationship.  We're going to have lots more chatting.  There is going to be time to talk about economic accommodation, and all of those kind of things.  Let's schedule more meetings.  Well, then the question is:  Well, what was the reasonable expectation of the First Nation in terms of its timing?

I think if you look at the June 17th letter, that is going to be the kind of problem we will get into in this discussion, which is:  What was the real indication to the First Nation about, you know, where things stood?

I've got to say it is complicated in this case by the fact you have this hearing going on in parallel and the degree to which they understand the link between the consultation and this hearing.

You know, it is noteworthy that the meeting -- there is a meeting referenced of April 29th with Union Gas, and the government led to understand certain things about it.  And our application comes in on May 6th.  Those things perhaps are not coincidental.

And, you know, obviously the First Nation is not, you know, necessarily equipped to fully understand, you know, what six of us have been arguing about here today.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. McIVOR:  Just a few comments on that.  The first point, the procedural point my friend made, I adopt and endorse that.

I will give you an example of how a board can be flexible.  The Carrier Sekani case, Rio Tinto, which is what we've all been talking about, there Carrier Sekani applied to intervene at the BC Utilities Commission after this kind of scoping decision was made.  Talk about coming in late in the day.  And the Utilities Commission agreed to reconsider its scoping decision.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

MR. McIVOR:  And that is what led to the Supreme Court.

Now, just a final point, though.  I want to reiterate the responsiveness, the second point.  The evidence is my client was responsive within the time lines that I have, and that there is no basis to trump because they're not timely enough.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Isaac, I see you are trying to say something.  Go ahead.
Further Submissions by Mr. Isaac:

MR. ISAAC:  Just a very brief reply to the submissions that have been made.

The whole question -- and Mr. McIvor started off by talking about the First Nations need to have a right of access to the Board.  I wrote down that he said that they didn't have access.

Yes, they did have access to the Board process.  They were notified in October 2010 - all of the First Nations were - of the proceeding and of the hearing, and they chose not to do anything until very, very late in the day.

What they're basically saying is they want a right not to participate in the process, but, later on, claim that the very fact that the scoping order somehow limited -- because of the fact they haven't participated in the process, somehow that is putting an extra burden on them.

Again, I will suggest to the Board that there is no -- there's no basis for that as a proposition.  And I would submit that it is essentially unreasonable as a position to think that you don't participate in the process, and yet somehow there is still an ability to get involved at the latter end of the process, and then complain about the process because the matters have been scoped.

Mr. McIvor also stated -- and I will be very brief, but stated that this wasn't a factual issue.  I disagree.  It is a factual issue.  There is a record before the Board, that his clients and the other First Nations could have participated in.

The letter was sent on October of 2010 inviting the First Nations to provide any comments they have in terms of the application.

Mr. McIvor corrected me by saying that I had said something about the decision being reviewed was not the BCUC decision.  If I said that, I didn't intend to.

I said the decision that triggered the duty was BC Hydro's decision.  I didn't comment on whether or not the BCUC decision was relevant.  Obviously that was the decision at issue in the case, but it wasn't the decision that triggered the duty.

Mr. McIvor also stated they must be able to speak to the decision makers, and that is the Board process.  If, in fact, submissions have been made, we don't know how this process would have played out, but what we do know is coming in late in the day is certainly unfair to those parties who rely on well-established process, the well-known process, and knowing that notice had been given back in late 2010.

Then finally, I just wanted to comment on Mr. Janes' comments about duty to consult not applying on private lands.

If that was at all picked up by anyone -- I certainly didn't make that submission -- that would be incorrect.  But he did cite Hupacasath.  I was counsel on Hupacasath, and Madame Justice Smith in that decision described the private property rights as, quote:

"At best, highly attenuated."

Because it is private land, and the rights of the private property landowner will trump.

And then finally, Mr. Janes commented on ambiguity about timing: Look, if a time had been set, and the, quote, "the First Nation blows through it," quote, "that's a problem."

A time was set, and the letter of October that is on the record, you will see in that letter comments were invited from the First Nations.  There was a date set of when comments would like to be received, and quite frankly – and again, this is a matter of record - Union Gas was willing to accept and remains willing to accept comments on anything First Nations may have to say about the pipeline project.

Finally, Mr. Janes stated with the April 29th meeting that was held, Union Gas remains waiting to hear any feedback or follow-up from that meeting.

So in reply, those are my submissions.

MR. JANES:  In fairness, all of this is the kind of factual analysis that you need to do with all of the evidence in front of you.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Are there any final matters, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't believe so, Madam Chair.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  So this hearing is adjourned.  A Decision will come out in due course.

I would like to thank all of the counsel that appeared, and First Nations.  I know some of you came from long distances, and it's been of assistance to the Board.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:11 p.m.
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